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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Board of Trustees and Members 
PHILIPPINE ELECTRICITY MARKET CORPORATION 
18th Floor, Robinsons-Equitable Tower 
ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center 
Pasig City, Philippines 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Philippine Electricity Market Corporation  
(the “Company”), which comprise the statements of assets, liabilities and fund balance as at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the statements of receipts and expenses, statements of 
changes in fund balance and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,  
the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA).  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines 
(Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as Management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,  
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,  
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by Management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.  
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,  
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
  



 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Report on the Supplementary Information Required by the Bureau of Internal Revenue 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial 
statements taken as a whole. The supplementary information in Note 27 to the financial 
statements is presented for purposes of filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. Such supplementary information is the 
responsibility of Management and has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our 
audits of the basic financial statements. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly 
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

Navarro Amper & Co. 
BOA Registration No. 0004, valid from November 12, 2018 to July 16, 2021 
SEC Accreditation No. 0001-FR-5, issued on January 15, 2019; effective until January 14, 2022, Group A 
TIN 005299331 

By: 

Melissa S. Delgado 
Partner 
CPA License No.  0091257 
SEC A.N. 0332-AR-4, issued on September 4, 2018; effective until September 3, 2021, Group A 
TIN 151684764 
BIR A.N. 08-002552-007-2019, issued on October 10, 2019; effective until October 9, 2022 
PTR No. A-5047289, issued on January 4, 2021, Taguig City 

Taguig City, Philippines 
May 28, 2021 



PHILIPPINE ELECTRICITY MARKET CORPORATION
(A Non-stock, Non-profit Corporation)

STATEMENTS OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Notes 2020
2019 

(as restated)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 P629,997,331 P714,173,283
Market fees and other receivables - net 7 33,551,485       39,583,901         
Advances to IEMOP 8 28,725,719       17,403,053         
Prepayments and other current assets 9 105,774,637     77,629,032         

   Total Current Assets 798,049,172     848,789,269        

Non-current Assets
Property and equipment - net 5,10 13,871,200       11,609,630         
Intangible assets - net 5,11 5,353,127         14,894,659         
Right-of-use asset - net 21 1,485,467         12,627,492         
Defined benefit asset 5,17 109,990,587     91,364,051         
Other non-current assets 12 19,345,943       27,198,244         

   Total Non-current Assets 150,046,324     157,694,076        

P948,095,496 P1,006,483,345

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 13 P348,941,728 P451,621,660
Current portion of lease liability 21 1,632,799         11,535,857         

   Total Current Liabilities 350,574,527     463,157,517        

Non-current Liability
Lease liability - net of current portion 21 -                    1,632,799           

350,574,527     464,790,316        
Fund Balance 597,520,969     541,693,029        

P948,095,496 P1,006,483,345
See Notes to Financial Statements.

December 31



PHILIPPINE ELECTRICITY MARKET CORPORATION
(A Non-stock, Non-profit Corporation)

STATEMENTS OF RECEIPTS AND EXPENSES

Notes 2020
2019 

(as restated)

Receipts
Revenue 14 P227,240,000 P227,240,000
Interest income 6 9,313,455         25,357,183         
Other income 15 89,287              44,842,509         

236,642,742     297,439,692       

Expenses
Personnel 16,17 107,440,105     124,701,356       
Honorarium and allowances 19 24,621,071       26,170,000         
Depreciation and amortization 10,11,21 19,160,136       22,923,287         
Outside services 21 15,465,196       12,928,045         
Utilities 9,584,361         5,817,163           
Repairs and maintenance 6,034,226         4,719,122           
Supplies 1,862,085         2,870,115           
Rental 21 1,549,049         1,850,908           
Transportation and travel 1,077,716         4,981,629           
Interest (Expense) 21 476,591            1,015,929           
Income Taxes 20 24,554              13,303,501         
Others (Expense) 18 7,589,588         15,414,702         

194,884,678     236,695,757       

Excess of Receipts over Expenses 41,758,064       60,743,935         
Transfer of assets and liabilities to IEMOP 25 (4,826,053)        (1,365,076,881)   

Net Excess of Receipts over Expenses for the year 36,932,011       (1,304,332,946)   
Other Comprehensive Income

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently 
to receipts over expenses

Remeasurement of defined benefit asset 17 18,895,929       26,759,642         

Total Receipts over Expenses P55,827,940 (P1,277,573,304)

See Notes to Financial Statements.

For the Years Ended December 31



PHILIPPINE ELECTRICITY MARKET CORPORATION
(A Non-stock, Non-profit Corporation)
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 

Notes       Reserves

Balance, December 31, 2018 P10,000 (P96,324,348) P1,915,580,681 P1,819,266,333

Net excess of receipts over expenses for the year:

As  previously stated -                   -                       (1,302,846,807)        (1,302,846,807)     

Prior period adjustments 11 -                   -                       (1,486,139)               (1,486,139)           

As Restated -                   -                       (1,304,332,946)        (1,304,332,946)     

Other comprehensive income

Effect of remeasurement of defined benefit asset 17 -                   26,759,642           -                          26,759,642           

Total comprehensive income -                   26,759,642           (1,304,332,946)        (1,277,573,304)     

Balance, December 31, 2019 10,000              (69,564,706)          611,247,735             541,693,029         

Net excess of receipts over expenses for the year -                   -                       36,932,011              36,932,011           

Other comprehensive income

Effect of remeasurement of defined benefit asset 17 -                   18,895,929           -                          18,895,929           

Total comprehensive income -                   18,895,929           36,932,011              55,827,940           

Balance, December 31, 2020 P10,000 (P50,668,777) P648,179,746 P597,520,969
See Notes to Financial Statements.

For the Years Ended December 31

        Total    Fund Balances

 Accumulated 
Excess of Revenue 

over Expenses 



PHILIPPINE ELECTRICITY MARKET CORPORATION
(A Non-stock, Non-profit Corporation)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Notes 2020
2019 

(as restated)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net excess of receipts over expenses P36,932,011 (P1,304,332,946)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 10,11,21 19,160,136       22,923,287         
Interest expense 21 476,591            1,015,929           
Unrealized foreign exchange (gains)/losses 18 278,357            129,665              
Gain on disposal of intangible assets 11,15 -                    (100,000)             
Interest income 6 (9,313,455)       (25,357,183)        
Allowance for Expected credit loss 7 154,057            24,789                
Retirement benefit (cost) income 17 269,393            (497,505)             
Transfer of assets and liabilities to IEMOP 26 4,826,053         1,365,076,881     

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 52,783,143       58,882,917         
(Increase) Decrease in current assets:

Market fees and other receivables 7 4,909,490         (7,743,015)          
Advances to IEMOP 8 (11,322,666)     34,283,949         
Prepayments and other current assets 9 (28,145,605)     35,723,778         

(Increase) Decrease in other non-current assets 12 7,852,301         21,119,237         
Decrease in current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 13 (102,679,932)   (10,522,469)        

Cash generated from (used in) operations (76,603,269)     131,744,397        
Interest received 10,282,324       25,204,142         

Net cash from (used in) operating activities (66,320,945)     156,948,539        

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 11 10,201,616       5,030,569           
Acquisitions of:

Property and equipment 10 (9,836,635)       (3,227,937)          
Intangible assets 11 (1,103,129)       (15,132,184)        

Net cash used in investing activities (738,149)          (13,329,553)        

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Transfer of Assets to IEMOP 25

Cash -                    (116,900,293)      
Guarantee deposits -                    (8,233,286)          
Prepaid Rent (4,826,053)       -                    

Payment of lease liabilities 21 (12,012,448)     (11,616,790)        

Net cash used in financing activities (16,838,501)     (136,750,369)      
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents (278,357)          (129,665)             

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (84,175,952)     6,738,952           
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning 6 714,173,283     707,434,331        

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End 6 P629,997,331 P714,173,283

See Notes to Financial Statements.

For the Years Ended December 31
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PHILIPPINE ELECTRICITY MARKET CORPORATION 
(A Non-stock, Non-profit Corporation) 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS AT AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019 

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

a. Organization 

Philippine Electricity Market Corporation (the “Company” or “PEMC”) is a non-stock, 
non-profit corporation registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) on November 18, 2003. The Company was incorporated upon the 
initiative of the Department of Energy (DOE). This is in pursuant to 
Section 30 of Republic Act (RA) No. 9136, the Electric Power Industry Reform Act 
(EPIRA) of 2001, which directs the DOE to constitute an autonomous group market 
operator, with equitable representation from industry participants, which shall 
undertake the preparatory work and initial operation of the Wholesale Electricity 
Spot Market (WESM), as disclosed in Note 21. 

On September 19 2018, PEMC and IEMOP executed an Operating Agreement by 
virtue of which, PEMC acknowledges and confirms that the Independent Electricity 
Market Operator of the Philippines, Inc. (IEMOP) shall act as Independent Market 
Operator of WESM pursuant to the DOE Department Circular No. 2018-01-0002 dated 
January 18, 2018 and Plan for Transition to the Independent Market Operator of the 
WESM which was approved in accordance with Republic Act No. 9136, otherwise 
known as the Electric Power Industry Reform Act of 2001 (EPIRA) and its IRR. 

Pursuant to said Operating Agreement, PEMC shall remain to be the governing body 
of WESM and will continue to perform the WESM governance functions, including, 
among other things, the supervision and monitoring of the operations of the Market 
Operator in accordance with the WESM Rules. 

IEMOP shall perform the market operator functions and other services. 
Correspondingly, the related personnel, assets, and liabilities were transferred from 
PEMC to IEMOP. The time and date of the actual transfer and assumption by IEMOP 
of the market operator functions and other services defined in the Operating 
Agreement was on September 26, 2018 as the “Commencement Date.” 

All of the Company’s costs of administering and operating the WESM is expected to 
be fully funded through the market fees collected from the WESM trading 
participants, as disclosed in Note 14. 

b. WESM Operation 

Pursuant to the DOE’s Department Circular No. 2006-06-008 issued on  
June 21, 2006 in accordance with the EPIRA, WESM’s commercial operation in Luzon 
formally commenced on June 26, 2006. On December 26, 2010, the commercial 
operations of the WESM in the Visayas formally started.  From June 26, 2006 to 
September 25 2018 for Luzon and from December 26, 2010 to September 25, 2018 
for Visayas, the Company acted as the market operator of WESM subject to the 
overall supervision of the PEM Board of Directors, as disclosed in Note 21. As market 
operator for said period, it administered the operation of the WESM in accordance 
with the rules that will govern the market (WESM Rules). Transactions between the 
WESM trading participants are not reflected in the Company’s financial statements 
because such transactions are those of the trading participants, with the Company 
acting only as a pass-through entity. 

Then, on September 26, 2018, the market operator functions have been transferred 
to IEMOP pursuant to the Operating Agreement. 

On May 4, 2017, the DOE issued Department Circular No. DC2017-05-0009,  
which provided for the launch of the WESM in Mindanao. The trial operations 
program (TOP) for the WESM in Mindanao was concluded on 25 March 2021 to 
proceed with the Closed Loop Interface Testing scheduled on 26 March –  
25 May 2021. 
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c. Central Registration Body (CRB) 

The commercial operations and integration of the Retail Competition and Open Access 
(RCOA) into the WESM was launched on June 26, 2013. 

Section 31 of EPIRA provides that RCOA shall be implemented not later than three 
years upon the implementation of EPIRA.  As at December 31, 2017, the Energy 
Regulatory Commission (ERC) allowed all electricity end users with a monthly average 
peak demand of at least seven hundred fifty (750) kilowatts for the preceding  
12 months to be contestable.  The Company is the CRB of the RCOA. 

However, the CRB function was likewise transferred to IEMOP on September 26, 2018 
pursuant to the Operating Agreement between PEMC and IEMOP. 

d. Renewable Energy Market (REM) 

Under Section 8 of the Renewable Energy Act (RA 9513), the Company is mandated 
to perform the functions of the Renewable Energy Registrar (RER) to  to conduct the 
issuance, keeping and verification of RER Certificates (RECs) corresponding to the 
generation of eligible Renewable Energy facilities. Furthermore, the same provision 
appoints the RER to act as the Operator of the REM which will facilitate the trading of 
the RECs. 

Pursuant to the Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) Rules promulgated by the DOE 
on December 30, 2017, the REM should be commercially operating by 2019, which 
was subsequently set by the DOE to the new date of 26 June 2021, through an 
Advisory they have issued in August 2020 regarding the Re-calibrated REM 
Implementation. To this end, PEMC, in collaboration with the DOE, completed the 
public consultations for the REM Rules and the Rules was promulgated by the DOE in 
December 2019. PEMC also has an ongoing project with the United Nations 
Development Program (UNDP) to implement the Philippine RE Market System (PREMS) 
that will operationalize the processes of the RER and is under the Renewable Energy 
Applications Mainstreaming and Market Sustainability (DREAMS) Project. 

e. EPIRA  

RA No. 9136, the EPIRA, which became effective in 2002, and the related Implementing 
Rules and Regulations provide for significant changes in the power sector, which include, 
among others:  

i. The unbundling of the generation, transmission, distribution and supply and other 
disposable assets of Electric Power Industry Participant, including its contracts with 
independent power producers and electricity rates;  

ii. Creation of a WESM within one year; and  

iii. Open and nondiscriminatory access to transmission and distribution systems.  

With respect to the creation of the WESM, the EPIRA mandated the DOE to formulate the 
WESM Rules jointly with the WESM trading participants and to create a market operator. 
In the implementation of this mandate, the WESM Rules were promulgated on  
June 28, 2002 and the Company was incorporated in November 2003 to act as the market 
operator as well as the governing body for the WESM.  

Board of directors and the independent market operator  

The powers and functions of the Company are exercised by its PEM Board. The sectors of 
the electric power industry are equitably represented in the PEM Board; i.e., the market 
operator, system operator, independent members and other WESM participants.  
The WESM trading participants include generation companies, distribution utilities 
(including electric cooperatives), bulk customers and suppliers or aggregators. The 
Company’s primary purpose is to manage, govern and administer an efficient, 
competitive, transparent and reliable market for the wholesale and purchase of electricity 
and ancillary services in the Philippines in accordance with the EPIRA and the rules 
promulgated to govern the operation of the WESM, including their respective amendments 
and such other laws, rules and regulations which may be enacted hereafter that shall 
govern the WESM.  
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Section 30 of the EPIRA and Provision 10.2 of the WESM Rules mandate that the Company 
undertake the initial operations of the WESM, and one year from implementation of the 
WESM (the Interim Period), an Independent Market Operator (IMO) shall be formed and 
the functions, assets and liabilities of the Company shall be transferred to the IMO upon 
the joint endorsement of the DOE and the WESM trading participants. The DOE has 
engaged the services of consultants to study the structure and manner of selection or 
appointment of the IMO which was completed in 2010. In 2011, the DOE formally 
presented the creation of the IMO. The Company will be restructured and its by-laws will 
be amended, converting the Company to become the IMO. An Independent Transition 
Board (ITB) will be formed and chaired by the DOE Secretary. The ITB will be tasked to 
oversee the orderly transition to the IMO Board which will come into being once all the 
necessary preparatory steps to fully establish it are completed. However, sometime  
June 2014, the DOE held public consultations on the draft department circular on the IMO 
which this time did not include a provision for the constitution of an ITB.  

Consistent with the provisions of the EPIRA, the Company’s by-laws provide for expiration 
of the Interim Period one year from commencement date of the WESM operations. As the 
IMO has not yet been formed, the PEM Board remains as the Interim Board with its 
members being appointed by the Secretary of the DOE, until such time that the IMO has 
been finally designated. 

While the Company was the autonomous group market operator and governing body of 
the WESM, it transferred its functions as market operator to the IMO while retaining its 
role as the WESM governing body. Such transition is pursuant to the mandates of the 
Philippines Electric Power Industry Reform Act of 2001 (EPIRA), which mandated the 
formation of an independent entity to which the market operator functions, assets, and 
liabilities will be transferred, upon joint endorsement by the Philippines Department of 
Energy (DOE) and the electric power industry market participants. 

The DOE endorsed the transition upon issuance of its Department Circular  
No. 2018-01-0002 entitled “Adopting Policies for the Effective and Efficient Transition to 
the Independent Market Operator for the Wholesale Electricity Spot Market”. 
Endorsement by the industry participants, meanwhile, was obtained through ratification 
by the members of the PEMC during its membership meeting held on February 6, 2018. 
The members ratified the transition to the IMO as embodied in the “Plan for Transition 
to the Independent Market Operator of the Philippine Wholesale Electricity Spot Market”. 

Operational Audits of the Market Operator and Review of Metering Installations and 
Arrangements  

The PEM Board has the power and duty to oversee and monitor the activities of the Market 
Operator to ensure that they fulfill their responsibilities under the WESM Rules, and are 
acting in a manner consistent with the WESM Rules.  

For this purpose, operational audits of the Market Operator and review of metering 
installations and arrangements are conducted on a regular basis with the PEM Audit 
Committee (PAC) as the oversight.  

In accordance with Clause 1.5.2 of the WESM Rules, the PEM Audit Committee shall:  

i. Conduct annual audits of the market operator and the settlement system and any 
other procedures, persons, systems or other matters relevant to the spot market;  

ii. Test and check any new items or version of software provided by the market operator 
for use by WESM Members;  

iii. Assess the adequacy of the metering standards and security systems and processes 
in the WESM; 

iv. Review any procedures and practices which are covered by the WESM Rules at the 
direction of the PEM Board;  

v. Recommend changes to the WESM Rules where the PEM Audit Committee detects 
deficiencies as a consequence of an audit, review, test, check or other form of 
review; and  

vi. Publish on the market information website the results of any findings and 
recommendations under this clause 1.5.1. 
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The PAC supervised the following activities to reinforce trading participants’ confidence in 
the transparency and adequacy of the WESM operations: 

a. 7th Audit of the Systems, Procedures and Performance of the Market Operator and 4th 
Review of Metering Installations and Arrangements 

The PAC supervised the  Joint Conduct of the 7th Audit of the Systems, Procedures and 
Performance of the Market Operator (MO Audit) and 4th Review of Metering Installations 
and Arrangements (RMIA) which was undertaken by RSM Australia Pty Ltd (RSM) with 
support from TechSafe Australia, Market Reform and Reyes Tacandong. 

The 7th MO Audit commenced in August 2020 an is conducted remotely due to the 
uncertainty around the COVID-19 pandemic and related quarantine and travel 
restrictions. Meanwhile, the 4th RMIA onsite inspection will commence tentatively in July 
2021, contingent to the international and domestic travel restrictions. 

b. Audit of Enhancements to the Accounts Management System 

Modifications to the Accounts Management System, which was previously audited and 
certified in July 2018, were implemented due to changes to external processes (e.g. 
updates to the Net Settlement Surplus implementation) that interface with the AMS 
and to include a facility to allow partial or full refund of prudential security deposits. 

In October 2020, KPMG R.G. Manabat & Co. (KPMG), the third-party expert who 
previously conducted the 2018 AMS audit, was again engaged to conduct the audit of 
the enhancements to the AMS under the supervision of the PAC. The software 
certification audit of the enhancements to the AMS was completed in November 2020. 
KPMG issued a software certificate indicating the compliance of the enhancements to 
the AMS with the applicable Market Rules and Manuals, relevant ERC issuances, and 
software specification.  

c. Software Certification Audit of the New Market Management System (NMMS), the 
Central Registration and Settlement (CRSS), and the Net Settlement Surplus (NSS) 
Tool  

In 2020, the PAC completed the independent software audit of the 7 out of 8 modules 
of the NMMS and the CRSS including enhancements and fixes, and related tools, 
systems, and applications. The audit of the remaining module of the NMMS, C7 – 
Financial Transmission Rights (FTR), has yet to be completed.  

Said audits were conducted to validate compliance with the Market Rules and Manuals, 
particularly the Price Determination Methodology (PDM) Manual for the enhanced 
WESM design and operations, and other relevant issuances of the DOE and ERC.  

These audits were handled by the IES under the supervision of the PAC. 

International Organization for Standardization (ISO)/International – Electrotechnical 
Commission (IEC) 27001:2005 Certification  

The Company has established an Information Security Management System (ISMS) which 
is a set of policies concerned with information security management as the Company aims 
to establish, maintain, operate and govern an efficient, competitive, transparent and 
reliable market for wholesale purchase of electricity and ancillary services in the 
Philippines in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations.  

An audit of the ISMS has been performed in which Report No. 70785938 proved that the 
requirements according to ISO27001:2013 were complied with by the Company. As such, 
on March 10, 2015, the Company has been awarded with Certification  
No. 12-130-42589 TMS which is valid until February 14, 2018.  

The registered principal office address of the Company is at the 18th Floor Robinsons-
Equitable Tower, ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center, Pasig City. 
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2. FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK AND BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 
PRESENTATION 

Statement of Compliance 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS), which includes all applicable PFRS, 
Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS), and interpretations issued by the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), Philippine Interpretations 
Committee (PIC) and Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) as approved by the 
Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) and the Board of Accountancy (BOA) and 
adopted by the SEC. 

Basis of Preparation and Presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
certain financial instruments carried at amortized cost, defined benefit asset recognized 
as the net total of the present value of the fair value of plan assets less defined benefit 
obligation. 

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange 
for goods and services. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, 
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group 
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would 
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that 
are within the scope of PFRS 16 (prior January 1, 2019, PAS 17), and measurements 
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as value in use in 
PAS 36. 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized 
into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;  

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and  

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

Functional and Presentation Currency 

These financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Company operates. All amounts are recorded in the 
nearest Peso, except when otherwise indicated. 
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards Effective in 2020 

The new and revised accounting standards and interpretations that have been published 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and approved by the FRSC in 
the Philippines were adopted by the Company as at December 31, 2020 and were 
assessed to be applicable to the Company’s financial statements, are as follows: 

Amendments to PAS 1 and PAS 8, Definition of Material 

The amendments relate to a revised definition of 'material': 

“Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial 
statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial 
information about a specific reporting entity.” 

Three new aspects of the new definition include (i) obscuring; (ii) could reasonably be 
expected to influence; and (iii) primary users. 

The amendments stress especially five ways material information can be obscured: 

• if the language regarding a material item, transaction or other event is vague or 
unclear; 

• if information regarding a material item, transaction or other event is scattered in 
different places in the financial statements; 

• if dissimilar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately aggregated; 

• if similar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately disaggregated; and 

• if material information is hidden by immaterial information to the extent that it becomes 
unclear what information is material. 

The amendments are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. Earlier 
application is permitted. 

The Management of the Company has assessed that the adoption of the amendments 
has no significant impact in the Company’s financial statements.   
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PIC Q&A No. 2019-04, Conforming Changes to PIC Q&As – Cycle 2019 

The interpretation sets out the changes (i.e., amendments or withdrawal) to certain 
interpretations. These changes are made as a consequence of the issuance of new PFRS 
that become effective starting January 1, 2019 and other relevant developments. 

PIC Q&As Amended  

The following table summarizes the changes made to the amended interpretations: 

PIC Q&A Amended Amendment 

PIC Q&A No. 2011-05: PFRS 1 – Fair 
Value or Revaluation as Deemed Cost 

Updated because of applying PFRS 16, 
Leases, for the first time starting January 1, 
2019 

PIC Q&A No. 2011-06: Acquisition of 
investment properties – asset 
acquisition or business combination? 

Reference to PAS 40, Investment Property, 
has been updated because of applying PFRS 
16 for the first time starting January 1, 2019 

PIC Q&A No. 2012-02: Cost of a new 
building constructed on the site of a 
previous building 

Reference to PAS 40 has been updated 
because of applying PFRS 16 for the first 
time starting January 1, 2019 

PIC Q&A No. 2017-02: PAS 2 and PAS 
16 - Capitalization of operating lease 
cost as part of construction costs of a 
building 

Updated to comply with the provisions of 
PFRS 16 and renamed as PIC Q&A No. 2017-
02: PAS 2 and PAS 16 - Capitalization of 
depreciation of right-of-use (ROU) asset as 
part of construction costs of a building 

PIC Q&A No. 2017-10: PAS 40 - 
Separation of property and 
classification as investment property 

Reference to PAS 40 has been updated 
because of applying PFRS 16 for the first 
time starting January 1, 2019 

PIC Q&A No. 2018-05: PAS 37 - 
Liability arising from maintenance 
requirement of an asset held under a 
lease 

Updated to comply with the provisions of  
PFRS 16 

PIC Q&A No. 2018-15: PAS 1- 
Classification of Advances to 
Contractors in the Nature of 
Prepayments: Current vs. Non-current 

Reference to PAS 40 (included as an 
attachment to the Q&A) has been updated 
because of applying PFRS 16 for the first 
time starting January 1, 2019 

PIC Q&A Withdrawn 

PIC Q&A Withdrawn Basis for Withdrawal 

PIC Q&A No. 2017-09: PAS 17 and 
Philippine Interpretation SIC-15 - 
Accounting for payments between and 
among lessors and lessees 

This PIC Q&A is considered withdrawn 
starting January 1, 2019, which is the 
effective date of PFRS 16. PFRS 16 
superseded PAS 17, Leases, and Philippine 
Interpretation SIC-15, Operating Leases— 
Incentives 

PIC Q&A No. 2018-07: PAS 27 and PAS 
28 - Cost of an associate, joint 
venture, or subsidiary in separate 
financial statements 

This PIC Q&A is considered withdrawn upon 
publication of IFRIC agenda decision - 
Investment in a subsidiary accounted for at 
cost: Step acquisition (IAS 27 Separate 
Financial Statements) in January 2019. 

The effective date of the amendments is included in the affected interpretations. 

The adoption of these interpretations did not have a significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements since the Company did not enter into transactions enumerated 
above. 
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PIC Q&A No. 2019-08, PFRS 16, Leases - Accounting for Asset Retirement or Restoration 
Obligation (“ARO”) 

The interpretation clarifies the recognition of ARO under the following scenarios: 

1) Accounting for ARO at lease commencement date 

The cost of dismantling and restoration (i.e., the ARO) should be calculated and 
recognized as a provision in accordance with PAS 37, with a corresponding 
adjustment to the related ROU asset as required by PFRS 16.24(d). As such, the 
lessee will add the amount of ARO to the cost of the ROU asset on lease 
commencement date, which will then form part of the amount that will be 
amortized over the lease term. 

2) Change in ARO after initial recognition 

2.1) Because ARO is not included as a component of lease liability, the 
measurement of such ARO is outside the scope of PFRS 16. Hence, its 
measurement is generally not affected by the transition to PFRS 16. Except in 
cases where the reassessment of lease-related assumptions (e.g., lease term) 
would affect the measurement of ARO-related provision, the amount of ARO 
existing at transition date would not be remeasured; rather, the balance of the 
ARO provision and any related asset will remain as previously measured. The asset 
will simply be reclassified from property and equipment to the related ROU asset 
as required under PFRS 16.24(d). 

2.2) Assuming there is a change in lease-related assumptions that would impact 
the ARO measurement (e.g., change in lease term due to the new PFRS 16 
requirements), the following will be the accounting treatment depending on the 
method used by the lessee in adopting PFRS 16: 

a. Modified retrospective approach - Under this approach, the lessee uses the 
remaining lease term to discount back the amount of provision to transition date. 
Any adjustment is recognized as an adjustment to the ROU asset and ARO 
provision. This adjustment applies irrespective of which of the two methods in 
measuring the ROU asset will be chosen under the modified retrospective 
approach. 

b. Full retrospective approach - The ARO provision and related asset, which gets 
adjusted to the ROU asset, should be remeasured from commencement of the 
lease, and then amortized over the revised or reassessed lease term. Because full 
retrospective approach is chosen, it is possible that the amount of cumulative
adjustment to the ARO provision and the ROU asset at the beginning of the earliest 
period presented will not be the same; hence, it is possible that it might impact 
retained earnings. 

The future adoption of the interpretation will not have an impact on the financial 
statements as the Company does not have obligation to restore the leased properties. 

PIC Q&A No. 2019-09, Accounting for Prepaid Rent or Rent Liability Arising from Straight-
lining under PAS 17 on Transition to PFRS 16 and the Related Deferred Tax Effects 

The interpretation aims to provide guidance on the following: 

1. How a lessee should account for its transition from PAS 17 to PFRS 16 using the 
modified retrospective approach. Specifically, this aims to address how a lessee 
should, on transition, account for any existing prepaid rent or rent liability arising from 
straight-lining of an operating lease under PAS 17, and 

2. How to account for the related deferred tax effects on transition from PAS 17 to PFRS 
16. 

The Management of the Company is still evaluating the impact of the interpretation. 
  



 
9 

PIC Q&A No. 2019-10, Accounting for variable payments with rent review  

Some lease contracts provide for market rent review in the middle of the lease term to 
adjust the lease payments to reflect a fair market rent for the remainder of the lease term. 
This Q&A provides guidance on how to measure the lease liability when the contract 
provides for a market rent review. 

The future adoption of the interpretation will not have an impact on the Company’s 
financial statements as the Company is not subjected to variable payments. 

PIC Q&A No. 2019-11, Determining the current portion of an amortizing loan/lease liability 

The interpretation aims to provide guidance on how to determine the current portion of an 
amortizing loan/lease liability for proper classification/presentation between current and 
non-current in the statement of financial position. 

The Management of the Company is still evaluating the impact of the interpretation. 

PIC Q&A No. 2019-12, PFRS 16, Leases – Determining the lease term 

The interpretation provides guidance how an entity determines the lease term under  
PFRS 16.  

A contract would be considered to exist only when it creates rights and obligations that 
are enforceable. Therefore, any non-cancellable period or notice period in a lease would 
meet the definition of a contract and, thus, would be included as part of the lease term. 
To be part of a contract, any option to extend or terminate the lease that are included in 
the lease term must also be enforceable. 

If optional periods are not enforceable (e.g., if the lessee cannot enforce the extension of 
the lease without the agreement of the lessor), the lessee does not have the right to use 
the asset beyond the non-cancellable period. Consequently, by definition, there is no 
contract beyond the non-cancellable period (plus any notice period) if there are no 
enforceable rights and obligations existing between the lessee and lessor beyond that 
term. 

In assessing the enforceability of a contract, an entity should consider whether the lessor 
can refuse to agree to a request from the lessee to extend the lease. Accordingly, if the 
lessee has the right to extend or terminate the lease, there are enforceable rights and 
obligations beyond the initial non-cancellable period and thus, the parties to the lease 
would be required to consider those optional periods in their assessment of the lease 
term. In contrast, a lessor’s right to terminate a lease is ignored when determining the 
lease term because, in that case, the lessee has an unconditional obligation to pay for 
the right to use the asset for the period of the lease, unless and until the lessor decides 
to terminate the lease. 

In assessing whether a lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend a 
lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate a lease, an entity shall consider all 
relevant facts and circumstances (i.e., including those that are not indicated in the lease 
contract) that create an economic incentive for the lessee to exercise the option to 
extend the lease, or not to exercise the option to terminate the lease. 

The future adoption of the interpretation will not have an impact on the Company’s 
financial statements as the practical expedient on the determination of lease was applied 
upon initial adoption. 

PIC Q&A No. 2019-13, PFRS 16, Leases – Determining the lease term of leases that are 
renewable subject to mutual agreement of the lessor and the lessee  

The interpretation provides guidance how an entity determines the lease term under  
PFRS 16. This interpretation focuses on lease contracts that are renewable subject to 
mutual agreement of the parties. 

A renewal option is only considered in determining the lease term if it is enforceable.  
A renewal that is still subject to mutual agreement of the parties is legally unenforceable 
under Philippine laws until both parties come to an agreement on the terms. 
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In instances where the lessee have known to be, historically, renewing the lease contract 
after securing mutual agreement with the lessor to renew the lease contract, the lessee’s 
right to use the underlying asset does not go beyond the one-year period covered by 
the current contract, as any renewal still has to be agreed on by both parties. A renewal 
is treated as a new contract. 

The Management of the Company is still evaluating the impact of the interpretation. 

PIC Q&A No. 2020-01, Conforming Changes to PIC Q&As – Cycle 2020 

The interpretation sets out the changes (i.e., amendments or withdrawal) to certain 
interpretations. These changes are made as a consequence of the issuance of new PFRS 
that become effective starting January 1, 2019 and other relevant developments. 

       PIC Q&As Amended 

The following table summarizes the changes made to the amended interpretations: 

PIC Q&A Amended Amendment 

Framework 4.1 and PAS 1.25 – 
Financial statements prepared on a 
basis other than going concern 

References to The Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting have been updated due 
to the revised framework effective January 
1, 2020 

PIC Q&A No. 2016-03: Accounting for 
common areas and the related 
subsequent costs by condominium 
corporations  

References to The Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting have been updated due 
to the revised framework effective January 
1, 2020 

PIC Q&A No. 2011-03: Accounting for 
intercompany loans 

References to The Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting have been updated due 
to the revised framework effective January 
1, 2020 

PIC Q&A No. 2017-08: PFRS 10 – 
Requirement to prepare consolidated 
financial statements where an entity 
disposes of its single investment in a 
subsidiary, associate or joint venture 

References to The Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting have been updated due 
to the revised framework effective January 
1, 2020 

PIC Q&A No. 2018-14: PFRS 15 – 
Accounting for cancellation of real 
estate sales 

References to The Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting have been updated due 
to the revised framework effective January 
1, 2020 

PIC Q&A Withdrawn 

PIC Q&A Withdrawn Basis for Withdrawal 

PIC Q&A No. 2011-06: Acquisition of 
investment properties – asset 
acquisition or business combination? 

With the amendment to PFRS 3 on the 
definition of a business effective January 1, 
2020, there is additional guidance in 
paragraphs B7A-B12D of PFRS 3 in 
assessing whether acquisition of investment 
properties is an asset acquisition or business 
combination (i.e. optional concentration test 
and assessment of whether an acquired 
process is substantive) 

       The effective date of the amendments is included in the affected interpretations. 

The adoption of these interpretations did not have a significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements since the Company did not enter into transactions enumerated 
above. 
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PIC Q&A No. 2020-06, PFRS 16 - Accounting for payments between and among lessors 
and lessees 

The interpretation provides for the treatment of payments between and among lessors 
and lessees as follows: 

  Treatments in the financial statements of  
 Transaction Lessor Old lessor New Lessee Basis 
1 Lessor pays 

old lessee - 
lessor 
intends to 
renovate 
the building 

i. Recalculate 
the revised 
leased 
payments (net 
of the one-off 
amount to be 
paid) and 
amortize over 
the revised 
lease term. 
ii. If net 
payable, 
recognize as 
expense unless 
the amount to 
be paid 
qualifies as 
capitalizable 
cost under PAS 
16 or PAS 40; 
in which case it 
is capitalized 
as part of the 
carrying 
amount of the 
associated 
property if it 
meets the 
definition of 
construction 
costs under 
PAS 16 or PAS 
40. 

i. Recognize in 
profit and loss at 
the date of 
modification the 
difference between 
the proportionate 
decrease in the 
ROU asset based 
on the remaining 
ROU asset for the 
remaining period 
and remaining 
lease liability 
calculated as the 
present value of 
the remaining 
lease payments 
discounted using 
the original 
discount rate of 
the lease. 
ii. Recognize the 
effect of 
remeasurement of 
the remaining 
lease liability as an 
adjustment to the 
ROU asset by 
referring to the 
revised lease 
payments (net of 
any amount to be 
received from the 
lessor) and using a 
revised discount 
rate.  
iii. Revisit the 
amortization 
period of ROU 
asset and any 
related leasehold 
improvement 
following the 
shortening of the 
term.  

 • PFRS 16; par. 
87 
• PAS 16; pars. 
6, 16-17 
• PAS 40; par. 
21 
• PFRS 16; par. 
45 
• Illustrative 
example 18 
issued by IASB 
• PAS 16; pars. 
56-57 

2 Lessor pays 
old lessee - 
new lease 
with higher 
quality 
lessee 
 
 

 
Same as Item 
1 

 
Same as Item 1 

 
 

 
Same as Item 1 
PFRS 16 par. 83 
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  Treatments in the financial statements of  
 Transaction Lessor Old lessor New Lessee Basis 
3 Lessor pays 

new lessee 
- an 
incentive to 
occupy 

i. Finance 
lease: 
• If made after 
commencemen
t date, 
incentive 
payable is 
credited with 
offsetting debit 
entry to the 
net investment 
lease. 
• If paid at or 
prior to 
commencemen
t date, 
included in the 
calculation of 
gain or loss on 
disposal on 
finance lease. 
ii. Operating 
lease add the 
initial direct 
costs to the 
carrying 
amount of 
underlying 
asset and 
recognize as 
expense over 
the lease term 
either on a 
straight-line 
basis of 
another 
systematic 
basis. 

 i. Record as a 
deduction to 
the cost of the 
ROU asset. 
ii. Lease 
incentive 
receivable is 
also included 
as reduction in 
measurement 
of lease 
liability. 
iii. When 
lessee receives 
the payment of 
lease 
incentive, the 
amount 
received is 
debited with a 
credit entry to 
gross up the 
lease liability. 

• PAS 16; par. 
68 
• PAS 16; par. 
71 
• PFRS 16; par. 
83 
• PFRS 16; par. 
24 

4 Lessor pays 
new lessee 
- building 
alterations 
specific to 
the lessee 
with no 
further 
value to 
lessor 

Same as Item 
3 

 i. Same as in 
fact pattern 
1C. 
ii. Capitalize 
costs incurred 
by the lessee 
for alterations 
to the building 
as leasehold 
improvement 
in accordance 
with PAS 16 or 
PAS 40. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Same as in 
fact pattern 1C. 
• PAS 40; par. 
21 
• PAS 16; pars. 
16-17 
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  Treatments in the financial statements of  
 Transaction Lessor Old lessor New Lessee Basis 
5 Old lessee 

pays lessor 
to vacate 
the leased 
premises 
early 

Recognize as 
income 
immediately, 
unless it was 
within the 
original 
contract and 
the probability 
criterion was 
previously 
met, in which 
case, the 
amount would 
have already 
been 
recognized as 
income using 
either a 
straight-line 
basis or 
another 
systematic 
basis. 

Recognize as 
expense 
immediately unless 
it was within the 
original contract 
and the probability 
criterion was 
previously met, in 
which case, the 
financial impact 
would have been 
recognized already 
as part of the lease 
liability. 

 • PAS 16 
• PAS 38 
• PFRS 16; par. 
18 

6 Old lessee 
pays new 
lessee to 
take over 
the lease 

 Recognize as an 
expense 
immediately. 

Recognize as 
income 
immediately. 

• PAS 16 
• PAS 38 
• PFRS 16; 
Appendix A 

7 New lessee 
pays lessor 
to secure 
the right to 
obtain a 
lease 
agreement 

i. If finance 
lease, 
recognize gain 
or loss in the 
profit or loss 
arising from 
the 
derecognition 
of underlying 
assets  
ii. If operating 
lease, 
recognize as 
deferred 
revenue and 
amortize over 
the lease term 
on a straight-
line basis or 
another 
systematic 
basis. 

 Recognize as 
part of the cost 
of the ROU 
asset. 

PFRS 16; par. 
24 
• PAS 16; par. 
71 
• PFRS 16; par 
81 

8 New lessee 
pays old 
lessee to 
buy 
out the 
lease 
agreement 

 Recognize as again 
immediately. Any 
remaining lease 
liability and ROU 
asset will be 
derecognized with 
net amount 
through P&L. 

Account for as 
initial direct 
cost included 
in the 
measurement 
of the ROU 
asset. 

• PFRS 16; 
Appendix A 
• PFRS 16; 
Example 13 in 
par. IE5 
• PFRS 16; par. 
24 
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The adoption of the interpretation did not have significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements as the Company has already accounted for the lease payments in 
accordance with PFRS 16 upon adoption of the standard. 

New Accounting Standards Effective After the Reporting Period Ended  
December 31, 2020 

The Company will adopt the following standards when these become effective: 

Amendments to PFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond June 30, 2021 

The amendment on IFRS 16 Leases to provide lessees with an exemption from assessing 
whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modification. The changes permit 
a lessee to apply the practical expedient regarding COVID-19-related rent concessions to 
rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects only payments 
originally due on or before June 30, 2022 (rather than only payments originally due on or 
before June 30, 2021). 

The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence 
of COVID-19 and only if all of the following conditions are met: 

a. The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that 
is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease 
immediately preceding the change; 

b. Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 
June 30, 2022 (a rent concession meets this condition if it results in reduced lease 
payments on or before  June 30, 2022 and increased lease payments that extend 
beyond  June 30, 2022); and 

c. There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after  
April 1, 2021. Earlier application permitted, including in financial statements not yet 
authorized for issue at the date the amendment is issued. 

Management is still assessing the impact of the adoption of this amendment on the 
Company’s financial statements. 

PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts  

PFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of insurance contracts within the scope of the standard. The objective of PFRS 
17 is to ensure that an entity provides relevant information that faithfully represents those 
contracts. This information gives a basis for users of financial statements to assess the 
effect that insurance contracts have on the entity's financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows. 

The key principles in PFRS 17 are that an entity: 

• identifies as insurance contracts those contracts under which the entity accepts 
significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to 
compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) 
adversely affects the policyholder; 

• separates specified embedded derivatives, distinct investment components and distinct 
performance obligations from the insurance contracts; 

• divides the contracts into groups that it will recognize and measure; 
• recognizes and measures groups of insurance contracts at: 

i. a risk-adjusted present value of the future cash flows (the fulfilment cash flows) that 
incorporates all of the available information about the fulfilment cash flows in a way 
that is consistent with observable market information; plus (if this value is a liability) 
or minus (if this value is an asset) 

ii. an amount representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the 
contractual service margin); 
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• recognizes the profit from a group of insurance contracts over the period the entity 
provides insurance cover, and as the entity is released from risk. If a group of contracts 
is or becomes loss-making, an entity recognizes the loss immediately; 

• presents separately insurance revenue (that excludes the receipt of any investment 
component), insurance service expenses (that excludes the repayment of any 
investment components) and insurance finance income or expenses; and 

• discloses information to enable users of financial statements to assess the effect that 
contracts within the scope of PFRS 17 have on the financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows of an entity. 

PFRS 17 includes an optional simplified measurement approach, or premium allocation 
approach, for simpler insurance contracts. 

The standard is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier 
application is permitted. 

The future adoption of the standard will not have an impact on the Company’s financial 
statements since the Company does not issue insurance contracts. 

Amendments to PFRS 3, References to the Conceptual Framework  

The amendments update PFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework 
instead of the 1989 Framework. They also add to PFRS 3 a requirement that, for 
obligations within the scope of PAS 37, an acquirer applies PAS 37 to determine whether 
at the acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that 
would be within the scope of IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to determine 
whether the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by 
the acquisition date. 

The amendments also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognize 
contingent assets acquired in a business combination. 

The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition 
is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after  
January 1, 2022. Early application is permitted if an entity also applies all other updated 
references (published together with the updated Conceptual Framework) at the same time 
or earlier. 

The future adoption of the amendments will not have an impact on the Company’s 
financial statements. 

Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between and Investor 
and Its Associate or Joint Venture 

The amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, 
the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary 
that does not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that 
is accounted for using the equity method, are recognized in the parent’s profit or loss only 
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.  

Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in 
any former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted 
for using the equity method) to fair value are recognized in the former parent’s profit or 
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint 
venture. 

The effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by the Board; however, earlier 
application of the amendments is permitted. 

The future adoption of the amendments will not have an impact on the Company’s 
financial statements. 
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Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current  

The amendments to PAS 1 affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or non-
current in the statement of financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition 
of any asset, liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items. 

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is 
based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that 
classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right 
to defer settlement of a liability, explain that rights are in existence if covenants are 
complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ 
to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity 
instruments, other assets or services. 

The amendments are applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2023, with early application permitted. 

The Management of the Company believes that it has no significant effect on the financial 
statements. 

Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use  

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced before that asset is available for use, 
i.e. proceeds while bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by Management. Consequently, an entity 
recognizes such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or loss. The entity measures the 
cost of those items in accordance with PAS 2, Inventories. 

The amendments also clarify the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is functioning 
properly’. PAS 16 now specifies this as assessing whether the technical and physical 
performance of the asset is such that it is capable of being used in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes. 

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the financial 
statements shall disclose the amounts of proceeds and cost included in profit or loss that 
relate to items produced that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities, and 
which line item(s) in the statement of comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds 
and cost. 

The amendments are applied retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant and 
equipment that are brought to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by Management on or after the beginning of the 
earliest period presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the 
amendments. 

The entity shall recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as 
appropriate) at the beginning of that earliest period presented. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, 
with early application permitted. 

The Management of the Company is still evaluating the impact of the amendments. 

Amendments to PAS 37, Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that 
relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract consist of both the 
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour or materials) 
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would 
be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment 
used in fulfilling the contract). 
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The amendments apply to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its 
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies 
the amendments. Comparatives are not restated. Instead, the entity shall recognize the 
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of retained earnings or other component of equity, as appropriate, at the date of 
initial application. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, 
with early application permitted. 

The Management of the Company is still evaluating the impact of the amendments. 

Annual Improvements to PFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle 

Amendments to PFRS 1 – Subsidiary as a first-time adopter 

The amendments provide additional relief to a subsidiary which becomes a first-time 
adopter later than its parent in respect of accounting for cumulative translation differences. 
As a result of the amendment, a subsidiary that uses the exemption in PFRS 1:D16(a) can 
now also elect to measure cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations at 
the carrying amount that would be included in the parent’s consolidated financial 
statements, based on the parent’s date of transition to PFRS Standards, if no adjustments 
were made for consolidation procedures and for the effects of the business combination in 
which the parent acquired the subsidiary. A similar election is available to an associate or 
joint venture that uses the exemption in PFRS 1:D16(a). 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, 
with early application permitted. 

The Management of the Company is still evaluating the impact of the amendments. 

Amendments to PFRS 9 – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial 
liabilities 

The amendments clarify that in applying the ‘10 per cent’ test to assess whether to 
derecognize a financial liability, an entity includes only fees paid or received between the 
entity (the borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity 
or the lender on the other’s behalf. 

The amendments are applied prospectively to modifications and exchanges that occur on 
or after the date the entity first applies the amendment. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, 
with early application permitted. 

The Management of the Company is still evaluating the impact of the amendments 

Amendments to PFRS 16 – Lease Incentives 

The amendments remove the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold 
improvements. 

As the amendments to PFRS 16 only regards an illustrative example, no effective date is 
stated. 

The Management of the Company is still evaluating the impact of the amendments. 

Amendments to PAS 41 – Taxation in fair value measurements 

The amendments remove the requirement in PAS 41 for entities to exclude cash flows for 
taxation when measuring fair value. This aligns the fair value measurement in PAS 41 with 
the requirements of PFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement to use internally consistent cash 
flows and discount rates and enables preparers to determine whether to use pretax or 
post-tax cash flows and discount rates for the most appropriate fair value measurement. 

The amendments are applied prospectively, i.e. for fair value measurements on or after 
the date an entity initially applies the amendment. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, 
with early application permitted. 
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The Management of the Company is still evaluating the impact of the amendments. 

PIC Q&A No. 2020-07, PAS 12 – Accounting for the Proposed Changes in Income Tax 
Rates under the Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises Act (CREATE) 
Bill 

The interpretation explained the details of the CREATE bill and its impact on the financial 
statements once passed. 

Interpretation discussed that impact on the financial statements ending  
December 31, 2020 are as follows: 

• Current and deferred taxes will still be measured using the applicable income 
tax rate as at December 31, 2020 

• If the CREATE bill is enacted before financial statements’ issue date, this will be 
a non-adjusting event but the significant effects of changes in tax rates on 
current and deferred tax assets and liabilities should be disclosed 

• If the CREATE bill is enacted after financial statements’ issue date but before 
filing of the income tax return, this is no longer a subsequent event but 
companies may consider disclosing the general key feature of the bill and the 
expected impact on the FS. 

For the financial statements ending December 31, 2021, the impact are as follows: 

• Standard provides that component of tax expense(income) may include “any 
adjustments recognized in the period for current tax of prior periods” and “the 
amount of deferred tax expense(income) relating to changes in tax rates or the 
imposition of new taxes” 

• An explanation of changes in the applicable income tax rates to the previous 
accounting period is also required to be disclosed 

• The provision for current income tax for the year 2021 will include the difference 
between income tax per 2020 financial statements and 2020 income tax return 

• Deferred tax assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2021, will be remeasured 
using the new tax rates 

• Any movement in deferred taxes arising from the change in tax rates that will 
form part of the provision for/benefit from deferred taxes will be included as well 
in the effective tax rate reconciliation. 

The Management of the Company assessed the impact of the new interpretation as 
disclosed in Note 27.  

4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Financial Instruments 

Initial recognition 

Financial assets are recognized in the Company’s financial statements when the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial 
assets are recognized initially at fair value. 

Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the Company’s financial 
assets. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets 
classified as at FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

As at December 31, 2020, the Company does not have financial assets classified as 
FVTOCI and FVTPL. 

All recognized financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either 
amortized cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 
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Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value on the basis 
of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the financial assets, as follows: 

• Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect 
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI), are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost; 

• Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is both to 
collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have 
contractual cash flows that are SPPI, are subsequently measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI); and 

• All other financial assets managed on their fair value basis and equity instruments 
are subsequently measured at FVTPL. 

However, the Company may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset on an asset-by-asset basis: 

• The Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of 
an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration 
recognized by an acquirer in a business combination to which PFRS 3 applies, in OCI; 
and 

• The Company may irrevocably designate a debt instrument that meets the amortized 
cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch (referred to as the fair value option). 

Amortized cost and effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding 
ECL, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 

The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is 
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative 
amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial 
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the other hand, 
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset 
before adjusting for any loss allowance. 

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method for debt instruments 
measured subsequently at amortized cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for 
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that 
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognized by applying 
the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent 
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves 
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognized by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets that are measured 
at amortized cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. 

ECLS are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to: 

• 12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to 
as Stage 1); or 

• Full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over 
the life of the financial instrument, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3). 
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A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit 
risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. 
For all other financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an amount equal to the  
12-month ECL. 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. 
These are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due 
to the Company under the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to 
receive arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, discounted at 
the asset’s effective interest rate. 

The Company measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios 
of loans that share similar economic risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss 
allowance is based on the present value of the asset’s expected cash flows using the 
asset’s original effective interest rate, regardless of whether it is measured on an 
individual basis or a collective basis. 

The Company recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company 
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 
12 month ECL.  

The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognized is based on significant 
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead 
of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an 
actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the portion 
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument 
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

Financial assets carried at amortized cost 

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate, i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. 

The carrying amount of financial assets carried at amortized cost is reduced directly by 
the impairment loss with the exception of market fees receivable, wherein the carrying 
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When market fees 
receivables are considered uncollectible, these are written off against the allowance 
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 
recognized in profit or loss. 

In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 
the previously recognized impairment loss shall be reversed. The reversal shall not result 
in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortized cost would 
have been had the impairment not been recognized at the date the impairment is 
reversed. The amount of the reversal shall be recognized in profit or loss. 

Default 

Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default 
is used in measuring the amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss 
allowance is based on 12-month or lifetime ECL, as default is a component of the 
probability of default (PD) which affects both the measurement of ECLs and the 
identification of a significant increase in credit risk. 

The Company considers the following as constituting an event of default: 

• The borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the 
Company; or 

• The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full. 
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When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Company takes 
into account both qualitative and quantitative indicators. The qualitative information 
assessed depends on portfolios of liabilities or loans that shares similar economic risk 
characteristics. Quantitative indicators, such as overdue status and non-payment on 
another obligation of the same counterparty are key inputs in this analysis. The Company 
uses a variety of sources of information to assess default which are either developed 
internally or obtained from external sources. 

Significant increase in credit risk 

The Company monitors all financial assets that are subject to the impairment 
requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Company will 
measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. 

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the 
financial instrument at the reporting date based on the remaining maturity of the 
instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was anticipated for the remaining 
maturity at the current reporting date when the financial instrument was first 
recognized.  

In making this assessment, the Company considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and 
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. 

Forward‑looking information considered includes forecasted credit limit and liquidity 
assessment on the future prospects of the industries in which the Company’s debtors 
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental 
bodies, relevant think‑tanks and other similar organizations, as well as consideration of 
various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the 
Company’s core operations. 

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether 
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition: 

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external 
(if available) or internal credit rating; 

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular 
financial instrument (e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default 
swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value 
of a financial asset has been less than its amortized cost); 

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions 
that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations; 

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 

• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; 
and 

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations. 

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Company presumes that the 
credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when 
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Company has 
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 

Despite the foregoing, the Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. 
  



 
22 

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: 

• The financial instrument has a low risk of default; 

• The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the 
near term; and 

• Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, 
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual 
cash flow obligations. 

The Company considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has 
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood 
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of 
‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and 
there is no past due amounts. 

The Company regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to 
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before 
the amount becomes past due. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the 
asset’s cash flows expire or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity. If the Company 
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognizes its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Company continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a 
collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized 
in profit or loss. 

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and equity instrument. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition 

Financial liabilities are recognized in the Company’s financial statements when the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. Transaction costs are deducted 
from the initial measurement of the Company’s financial liabilities, except for any debt 
instruments classified at FVTPL. 

Other financial liabilities 

Since the Company does not have financial liabilities classified at FVTPL, all financial 
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments including all fees 
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
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Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement 
of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously. 

A right to offset must be available today rather being contingent on a future event and 
must be exercisable by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course of business 
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are derecognized by the Company when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is 
recognized in profit or loss. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the 
Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Fund balance 

Fund balance includes the initial contributions made by the incorporators of the Company 
and the accumulated excess/(deficiency) of revenues over/(against) expenses. 

Excess of receipts over expenses 

Excess of receipts over expenses represents accumulated gains incurred by the 
Company. Excess may also include effects of changes in accounting policy as may be 
required by the standard’s transitional provision. 

Reserves 

Reserves pertains to the accumulated other comprehensive income related to the 
remeasurement gain or loss of the defined benefit obligation. 

Prepayments 

Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash.  
Prepayments are initially recorded as assets and measured at the amount of cash paid. 
Subsequently, these are charged to income as they are consumed in operations or expire 
with the passage of time. 

Prepayments are classified in the statements of assets, liabilities and fund balance as 
current assets when the cost of services related to the prepayment are expected to be 
incurred within one year or the Company’s normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. 
Otherwise, prepayments are classified as non-current assets. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are initially measured at cost. The cost of an item of property 
and equipment comprises: 

• its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes,  
after deducting trade discounts and rebates; 

• any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by Management; 
and the initial estimate of the future costs of dismantling and removing the item and 
restoring the site on which it is located, the obligation for which an entity incurs 
either when the item is acquired or as a consequence of having used the item during 
a particular period for purposes other than to produce inventories during that period. 
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At the end of each reporting period, item of property, plant and equipment measured 
using the cost model are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of property and equipment that have 
already been recognized are added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is 
probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of 
performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Company. All other subsequent 
expenditures are recognized as expenses in the period in which those are incurred. 

Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method based on the estimated useful 
lives of the assets as follows: 

Office equipment 3-5 years 
System hardware 3-5 years 
Transportation equipment 5 years 
Furniture and fixture 3 years 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the 
improvements of three years or the terms of the lease including renewal periods that 
are reasonably assured, whichever is shorter. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Gain or 
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in 
statements of receipts and expenses. 

Intangible Assets 

Intangible asset acquired separately 

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost 
less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. The estimated useful 
life and the amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with 
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

System software 

Market management system (MMS) 

The MMS which is the enabler of the WESM, is an infrastructure with various hardware, 
software and interfaces that is made up of several highly advanced applications for 
market interface, market application that supports real time electricity spot scheduling 
and pricing processes. 

The asset is accounted for under the cost model. The cost of the asset is the amount of 
cash consideration paid or the fair value of the other considerations given up to acquire 
or develop the MMS. Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset of five years. 
Other system software 

Other system software is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and any 
impairment in value. The initial cost of system software comprises its purchase price. 
Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of system software programs 
beyond their original specifications is capitalized and added to the original cost of the 
software. Costs associated with developing or maintaining system software programs 
are recognized as expense when incurred. 

System software development costs recognized as assets are amortized using the 
straight-line method over their useful lives, but not exceeding a period of five years. 

System software under development represent software still in progress and is stated at 
cost. This includes costs of the development and other direct costs. System software is 
not amortized until such time that the software is completed and is available for use. 
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The intangible assets is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in statement of receipts 
and expenses. 

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is any 
indication that any of its tangible and intangible assets may have suffered an impairment 
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. 

When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, assets are also 
allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group CGU 
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for 
use are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognized as an expense, unless the relevant asset is carried at 
a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease.  Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the 
carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata basis. 

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting 
period for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized. 

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation, either legal or 
constructive, as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made in the amount of the 
obligation. 

The amount of the provision recognized is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the end of each reporting period, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. A provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of obligation. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to 
be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be 
measured reliably. 

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the 
current best estimate. 
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If it is no longer probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, the provision should be reversed. 

Contingent liabilities 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized because their existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the entity. 

Contingent liabilities are disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote. 

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are only recognized when these 
are present obligation and can be measured reliably. 

           Employee Benefits 

Short-term benefits 

The Company recognizes a liability net of amounts already paid and an expense for 
services rendered by employees during the accounting period that are expected to be 
settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the reporting period.  A liability is 
also recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or 
profit sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can 
be estimated reliably. 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and 
are expensed as the related service is provided. 

Post-employment benefits 

The Company has a defined benefit retirement plan which requires contributions to be 
made to trustee-administered funds. The net defined benefit asset is the aggregate of 
the fair value of plan assets reduced by the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, adjusted for any effect of limiting a net 
defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling is the present value of any 
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future 
contributions to the plan. 

The Company maintains a defined benefit retirement plan that covers all regular  
full-time employees. Under its defined benefit plan, the Company pays fixed 
contributions based on the employees monthly salaries. The Company, however, is 
covered under Republic Act (RA) No. 7641, The Philippine Retirement Law, which 
provides for its qualified employees a defined benefit minimum guarantee. The DB 
minimum guarantee is equivalent to a certain percentage of the monthly salary payable 
to an employee at normal retirement age with the required credited years of service 
based on the provisions of RA 7641. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is actuarially determined 
using the projected unit credit method. 

Defined benefit cost is comprised of service costs, net interest on the net defined benefit 
asset and remeasurements of net defined benefit asset. 

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses 
on non-routine settlements are recognized as expense in receipts and expenses.  
Past service costs are recognized when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.  
These amounts are calculated periodically by independent qualified actuaries. 

Net interest on the net defined benefit asset is the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by 
applying the discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds to the net defined 
benefit asset. Net interest on the net defined benefit asset is recognized as expense in 
receipts and expenses. 
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Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any 
change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) 
are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to revenue and expenses in subsequent 
periods. These are retained in other comprehensive income until full settlement of the 
obligation. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Company expects to be 
entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties. The Company recognizes revenue when it transfers control of a product or service 
to a customer.  

Market transaction fees 

Market transaction fees refers to the monthly fees to be assessed to each trading 
participants (Generator/Seller) on the usual market-billing period. Since the total market 
transaction fees correspond to the annual budgetary requirements of the Company, it is 
equitably distributed to the market participants based on the total metered quantity in 
KwH scheduled through the market, inclusive of both spot and bilateral contract quantities. 
Market transaction fees are recognized every month upon receipt of WESM billing which is 
based on market fee filings as approved by the Energy Regulatory Commission (“ERC”).  

Interest income 

Interest income from a financial asset is recognized when it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of income can be measured reliably. 
Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to 
that asset’s net carrying amount. 

Other income 

Other income is income generated outside the normal course of business and is recognized 
when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and it can be 
measured reliably. 

Expense Recognition 

Expenses are recognized in the statements of receipts and expenses when a decrease in 
future economic benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has 
arisen that can be measured reliably. Expenses are recognized on the basis of a direct 
association between the costs incurred in the fulfillment of the Company’s purpose: on the 
basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are 
expected to arise over several accounting periods; when an expenditure produces no 
future economic benefits or when, and to the extent that, future economic benefits do not 
qualify, or cease to qualify, for recognition in the statements of assets, liabilities and fund 
balance as an asset. 

Expenses in the statements of receipts and expenses are presented using the nature of 
expense method. 

Leases 

The Company as lessee  

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the 
contract. The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset (ROU) and a corresponding lease 
liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low 
value assets. For these leases, the Company recognizes the lease payments as an 
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased assets are consumed.  
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The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that 
are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the 
lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses its incremental 
borrowing rate. The rate is defined as the rate of interest that the lessee would have to 
pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar security the funds necessary to 
obtain an asset of a similar value to the ROU in a similar economic environment. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:  

• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease 
incentives:  

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate. initially measured 
using the index or rate at the commencement date;  

• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value 
guarantees  

• the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee Is reasonably certain to 
exercise the options; and  

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the 
exercise of an option to terminate the lease. 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statements of assets, liabilities 
and fund balance.  

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect 
interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the 
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. 

The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to 
the related ROU) whenever:  

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise 
of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.  

• the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in 
expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease 
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial 
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).  

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a 
separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the 
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

The Company did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.  

The ROU comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 
payments made at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They 
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 

Whenever the Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased 
asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the 
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised 
and measured under PAS 37. The costs are included in the related ROU, unless those 
costs are incurred to produce inventories.  

ROU are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the 
underlying asset.  

If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the ROU reflects that 
the Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related ROU is depreciated over 
the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement 
date of the lease. 
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The ROU are presented as a separate line in the statements of assets, liabilities and fund 
balance. The Company applies PAS 36 to determine whether a ROU is impaired and 
accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in the 'Property and equipment' 
policy.  

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement 
of the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments 
occurs and are included in the line Rental expenses in the statements of receipts and 
expenses. 

As a practical expedient, PFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, 
and instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single 
arrangement.  

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation 

Transactions in currencies other than Philippine Peso are recorded at the rates of exchange 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary 
assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. 

Related Party Transactions 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the 
Company and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 

Parties are considered related if one party has control, joint control, or significant influence 
over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. An entity that is a post-
employment benefit plan for the employees of the Company and the key management 
personnel of the Company are also considered to be related parties. 

Taxation 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax expense. 

Current tax 

The current tax expense is based on taxable profit for the year.  Taxable profit differs from 
net profit as reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that 
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Company’s primary source of revenues is the Market Transaction Fees. 
However, such fees are exempt from income taxes as covered by the provisions under 
Sec. 30 of the NIRC. As such, only the company’s other income is subject to current tax 
expense which is calculated using the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) rate of 30%. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the 
computation of taxable profit and are accounted for using the balance sheet liability 
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences, while deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities 
are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will 
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.  



 
30 

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences 
that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the 
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Current and deferred tax for the year 

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to 
items that are recognized in OCI or directly in equity, in which case, the current and 
deferred tax are also recognized in OCI or directly in equity respectively.  

Events after the Reporting Period 

The Company identifies events after the end of each reporting period as those events, 
both favorable and unfavorable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and 
the date when the financial statements are authorized for issue. The financial statements 
of the Company are adjusted to reflect those events that provide evidence of conditions 
that existed at the end of the reporting period. Non-adjusting events after the end of 
the reporting period are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when material. 

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, Management is required to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on the historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if 
the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations,  
that Management have made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements. 

Leases 

The evaluation of whether an arrangement contains a lease is based on its substance. 
An arrangement is, or contains, a lease when the fulfillment of the arrangement depends 
on a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys the right to use the asset. 

ROU assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the 
amount of any prepaid and accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognized in 
the statements of assets, liabilities and fund balance immediately before the initial 
application. 

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. 

Estimating loss allowance for expected credit losses 

The Company measures expected credit losses of a financial instrument in a way that 
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating 
a range of possible outcomes, the time value of money and information about past 
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. When measuring 
ECL the Company uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which 
is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how 
these drivers will affect each other. 
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When measuring ECL, the Company uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking 
information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different 
economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other.  

As at December 31, 2020, Management believes that the recoverability of their market 
fees and other receivables and advances to IEMOP are certain. Accordingly, there is a 
minimal credit loss, hence no ECL was recognized. Total market fees and other 
receivables and advances to IEMOP as at December 31, 2020 amounted to P33,551,485 
and P28,725,719 as disclosed in Notes 7 and 8, respectively. 

Estimating useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets with  
definite life 

The useful lives of the Company’s assets with definite life are estimated based on the 
period over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful 
lives of the Company’s property and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed 
periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to 
physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits 
on the use of the Company’s assets. In addition, the estimation of the useful lives is 
based on the Company’s collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical 
evaluation and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results 
of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by 
changes in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for 
any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A reduction 
in the estimated useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets would 
increase the recognized operating expenses and decrease non-current assets. 

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, the carrying amounts of the Company’s property 
and equipment amounted to P13,871,200 and P11,609,630, respectively, as disclosed 
in Note 10.  Total accumulated depreciation as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 
amounted to P96,786,230 and P89,211,165, respectively, as disclosed in  
Note 10. 

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, the carrying amounts of the intangible assets 
amounted to P5,353,127 and P14,894,659 respectively, as disclosed in Note 11. 

Retirement benefits 

The determination of the retirement obligation cost and other retirement benefits is 
dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such 
amounts. Those assumptions include among others, discount rates, expected returns on 
plan assets, mortality and rates of compensation increase. Actual results that differ from 
the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, 
generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligation in such future periods.  
While the Company believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, 
significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions 
may materially affect the pension and other retirement obligations. 

The Company recognized cost amounting to P269,393 for the year 2020 and income 
amounting to P497,505 in 2019 from the defined benefit plan. The defined benefit asset 
as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 amounted to P109,990,587 and P91,364,051, 
respectively, as disclosed in Note 17. 
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the statements of cash flows can be 
reconciled to the related items in the statements of assets, liabilities and fund balances 
as follows: 

  2020 2019 
Cash equivalents  P578,161,088 P567,070,703 
Cash in banks  51,739,243 147,052,580 
Cash on hand  97,000 50,000 

  P629,997,331 P714,173,283 

Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are made for varying 
periods up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the 
Company.  

Cash in banks and cash equivalents earned average interest at prevailing deposit rates 
ranging from 0.75% to 4% and  4% to 6% per annum during 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. Interest income earned from cash in banks and cash equivalents amounted 
to P9,313,455 and P25,357,183 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 

Cash transfers to IEMOP which amounted to nil and P116,900,293 in 2020 and 2019, 
respectively relates to the funds allocated to the entity as disclosed in note 26. 

7. MARKET FEES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - net 

The details of the Company’s receivables are: 

  2020 2019 
Market fees receivables  P25,311,458 P25,311,458 
Interest receivable  255,274 1,224,143 
Receivables from officers and employees  918,199 923,052 
Others  7,245,400 12,150,037 
  33,730,331 39,608,690 
Less: Expected credit losses  178,846 24,789 

  P33,551,485 P39,583,901 

Market fees receivables pertain to amount due from the imposition of market fees to the 
power generation companies. Market fees receivables are non-interest-bearing and 
generally have a term of 30 days. 

Other receivables include receivables from training fees conducted to various 
participants and registration fees are collected upon demand. 

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Company considers any 
change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially 
granted up to the end of the reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is limited 
due to the customer base being large and unrelated.  

8. ADVANCES TO IEMOP 

Pursuant to the Operating Agreement dated September 19, 2018 between the Company 
and IEMOP, all existing assets pertaining to the performance of market operations 
functions, including the associated liabilities, will be transferred by the Company to 
IEMOP.   

However, the Company made payments for the security deposits, advanced rentals, pre-
paid subscriptions, and other advanced payments for contracts, work orders, purchase 
orders, or other transactions that pertain to the functions of IEMOP as the market 
operator after September 26, 2018.  
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The balance of the expenses settled by the Company for the account of IEMOP is broken 
down as follows: 

 2020 2019 
Utilities P17,037,203 P9,454,001 
Property and equipment 11,021,610 724,982 
Rental 381,815 1,639,291 
Insurance 180,148 2,122,972 
Taxes and dues 104,943 2,280,587 
Repairs and maintenance - 851,053 
Transportation and travel - 270,742 
Conference - 59,185 
Materials - 240 

 P28,725,719 P17,403,053 

Intangible assets include system software transferred by the Company to IEMOP 
amounting to P10,201,616 in 2020 as disclosed in Note 11. 

9. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

The details of the Company’s prepayments and other current assets are: 

 Note 2020 2019 
Prepaid tax  P  58,614,250  P58,638,804 
Guarantee deposits 21 43,937,195  6,233,223 
Prepaid maintenance  1,401,195 309,915 
Prepaid supplies  1,141,110 1,660,689 
Prepaid input value added tax (VAT)  423,211 10,556,740 
Prepaid rent 21 123,189 95,175 
Others  134,487 134,486 

  P105,774,637 P77,629,032 

Others include advances to suppliers, prepaid subscription and prepaid insurance. 

The significant increase in Guaranty Deposit is mainly attributable to the surety bond 
related to the labor case of an employee amounting to Php 36,083,951. 

Prepaid tax pertains to creditable withholding tax from the Bureau of Internal Revenue 
(BIR). 

The Management believes that there is no impairment related to creditable withholding 
tax since the Company applied for tax refund with the local tax authorities and as well 
applied on income taxes on other taxable income.
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10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT – net 

Movements in the carrying amount of the Company’s property and equipment are as follows: 

 
Office  

Equipment 
System  

Hardware 
Leasehold 

Improvements 
Transportation 

Equipment 
Furniture &  

Fixtures Total 
Cost       
Balance, January 1, 2019 P249,557,485 P151,732,430 P44,985,342 P13,297,321 P16,889,223 P476,461,801 
Additions 3,224,544 - - - 3,393 3,227,937 
Disposals (178,478,928) (149,486,081) (36,852,560) (5,970,536) (8,080,838) (378,868,943) 

Balance, December 31, 2019 74,303,101 2,246,349 8,132,782 7,326,785 8,811,778 100,820,795 
Additions 9,836,635 - - - - 9,836,635 

Balance, December 31, 2020 84,139,736 2,246,349 8,132,782 7,326,785 8,811,778 110,657,430 

Accumulated Depreciation       

Balance, January 1, 2019 209,899,642 59,792,881 30,934,652 13,297,321 16,654,317 330,578,813 
Depreciation 7,208,278 303,571 1,522,390 - 105,605 9,139,844 
Disposals (150,688,204) (58,431,949) (27,374,536) (5,970,536) (8,042,267) (250,507,492) 

Balance, December 31, 2019 66,419,716 1,664,503 5,082,506 7,326,785 8,717,655 89,211,165 
Depreciation 5,678,658 303,571 1,522,390 - 70,446 7,575,065 

Balance, December 31, 2020 72,098,374 1,968,074 6,604,896 7,326,785 8,788,101 96,786,230 

Carrying Amount 
December 31, 2020 P  12,041,362 P      278,275 P  1,527,886 P            - P       23,677 P  13,871,200 

Carrying Amount 
December 31, 2019 P    7,883,385 P      581,846 P  3,050,276 P            - P       94,123 P  11,609,630 

The cost of fully depreciated property and equipment that are still used in the Company’s operations amounted to P8,7500,266 and P73,375,661 
as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, Management believes that the carrying amount of its property and equipment is not in excess of its recoverable 
amount. 
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS – net 

Movements in the carrying amount of the Company’s intangible assets are as follows: 

 

Market 
Management 

System 
Other System 

Software 

System Software 
Under 

Development Total 

Cost     
Balance, January 1, 2019 P681,264,498 P82,330,059 P709,068,213 P1,472,662,770 
Additions - - 16,618,323 16,618,323 
Transfer of assets - (73,428,019) (709,748,783) (783,176,802) 
Balance, December 31, 2019 681,264,498 8,902,040 15,937,754 706,104,291 
Prior year adjustments (Note 27) - - (1,486,139) (1,486,139) 
Balance, December 31, 2019 (as restated) 681,264,498 8,902,040 14,451,614 704,618,152 
Additions - - 1,103,129 1,103,129 
Transfer of assets - - (10,201,616) (10,201,616) 

Balance, December 31, 2020 681,264,498 8,902,040 5,353,127 695,519,665 

Accumulated Amortization     

Balance, January 1, 2019 681,264,498 62,551,567 - 743,816,065 
Amortization - 2,641,417 - 2,641,417 
Transfer of assets - (56,733,989) - (56,733,989) 

Balance, December 31, 2019 681,264,498 8,458,995 - 689,723,493 
Amortization - 443,045 - 443,045    
Disposal of assets - - - - 

Balance, December 31, 2020 681,264,498 8,902,040 - 690,166,538 

Carrying Amount 
December 31, 2020 P               - P             - P    5,353,127 P     5,353,127 

Carrying Amount 
December 31, 2019 P              - P     443,045 P  14,451,614 P     14,894,659 

Market dispatch optimization model (MDOM) software modification project 

On December 20, 2012, the Company launched the MDOM Software Modification Project 
to implement enhancements to the processes of the Market Management System (MMS) 
of WESM. The WESM MMS Market Infrastructure and Market Applications software are 
delivered specifically for the generator ramping and modelling loss of transmissions. 
Additional costs of MDOM are capitalized as part of “Other system software”. 

In 2019, gain on disposal of intangible assets amounting to P100,000 was recognized as 
disclosed in Note 15. Also, there has been a transfer of intangible assets to EIMOP 
amounting to a net book value of P721,512,244 as disclosed in Note 25.  

Management believes that the carrying amounts of its intangible assets are not in excess 
of its recoverable amount as at December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

12. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS – net 

 Note 2020 2019 
Deferred input Valued Added Tax (VAT)  P14,282,819 P22,135,122 
Income tax refund  8,374,250 8,374,250 
  22,657,069 30,509,372 

Less: allowance for impairment losses on 
income tax refund 21 (g) 3,311,126 3,311,126 

   P19,345,943 P27,198,246 
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13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 

  2020 2019 
Trade payable  P306,155,232 P410,963,445 
Accrued expenses  36,730,828 30,387,053 
Deferred output VAT  3,605,506 3,616,220 
Withholding taxes payable  1,942,088 5,843,226 
Others  508,074 811,716 

  P348,941,728 P451,621,660 

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and generally have a term of 30 days. The 
account also includes the balance of cash allocated to IEMOP which amounts to 
P272,991,690 and 390,069,607 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively as 
disclosed in Note 26.  

Other payables include government payables such as fringe benefits and employee 
contributions to other government agencies. 

Details of accrued expenses are shown below: 

 Note 2020 2019 
Market fees payable 14 P22,921,966 P22,921,966 
Employee benefits  12,205,766 5,768,701 
Others  1,603,096 1,696,386 

  P36,730,828 P30,387,053 

Accrued expenses are settled within the next financial year. Other accrued expenses 
pertain to administrative expenses. 

14. REVENUE 

  2020 2019 

Market transaction fees  P227,240,000 P227,240,000 

As mandated in Section 2.10 of the WESM Rules, the Company will recover all its costs of 
administering and operating the WESM through the market fees imposed on all WESM 
members, provided that such market fees are approved by the ERC. 

The market transaction fees shall be levied upon the generators registered with the WESM 
and will be apportioned based on the gross kilowatt hours generated by the trading 
participant during the billing period.  

Market transaction fees (MTF)  

On October 12, 2017, the Company applied for the approval of the proposed market 
transaction fees for 2018 in the amount of P822,208,000, without prejudice to the 
resolution of the Company’s MMS Loan Repayment Application. The Company has 
completed the presentation of its witnesses and has made further submissions with respect 
to the documents in support of its application as requested by the ERC. 

Pending approval of the foregoing application, the Company collected market fees based 
on the latest market transaction fees level approved by the ERC, which is the market 
transaction fees approved for 2014. Upon the assumption of IEMOP of market operations 
function on September 26, 2018, IEMOP collected Market Fees through the WESM 
settlement process in accordance with the WESM Rules and relevant market manuals. 
IEMOP also remits the market fees pertaining to the Company based on the allocation 
approved by the Philippine Electricity Market Board (“PEM Board”) prior to the assumption 
of IEMOP. It is understood that the Company owns the market fees pertaining to it and 
that these are being collected by IEMOP only on behalf of the Company. 
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On November 20, 2019, the Company submitted an indicative allocation of the budget 
applied for between the Company and IEMOP pursuant to ERC’s Order. The total proposed 
budget for 2020 is P1.033 million broken down as follows: (a) the Company’s proposed 
budget is P376.73 million; and (b) IEMOP’s proposed budget is P656.76 million. 

The total MTF recognized in 2020 and 2019 are computed as follows: 

2020    
Approved ERC budget for CY 2014   P227,240,000 
MTF accrual (reversal) for period    

December 26 to 31:    
2019   (22,601,828) 
2020   22,601,828 

   P227,240,000 

2019    
Approved ERC budget for CY 2014   P227,240,000 
MTF accrual (reversal) for period    

December 26 to 31:    
2018   (22,601,828) 
2019   22,601,828 

   P227,240,000 

A Motion for Reconsideration was filed by the Company on December 16, 2014 questioning 
(a) the use of variance report as basis in determining the 2014 Market Transaction Fees, 
(b) the need for an enhanced budget for Maintenance and Other Operating Expenses 
(MOOE) for advertising and promotions, and subscriptions, (c) the budget for Personnel 
Services (PS) for P8.00 million, (d) the budget for corporate infrastructure at P3.20 million, 
(e) and the need for the approval of the remaining budget for the market system 
enhancement project and Market Research and Development Platform (MRDP).  

In the Order dated December 10, 2015, the ERC partially granted the Company’s Motion 
for Reconsideration, as follows: (i) approved the budget for Corporate Infrastructure and 
Enhancement and Replacement of Equipment in the amount of P21,335,000; (ii) denied 
its motion to set aside the imposition of carrying costs; (iii) approved the remaining budget 
for MRDP and Market Design and Structural Feasibility Study (Forwards Market), subject 
to the submission of certain documents and reportorial requirements; and (iv) denied its 
motion to approve the remaining budgets for PS.  

On March 10, 2016, the Company filed its Motion for Leave to File and Admit Attached 
Motion for Partial Reconsideration [Re: Order dated December 10, 2015] seeking a 
reconsideration of the Order dated December 10, 2015 and praying as follows: (i) that 
the new formula for computing the market fees be set aside and the old formula be 
retained; and (ii) that the Company be ordered to return by way of deduction to the 
succeeding year’s application for market fees the actual interest earned in the amount of 
P499,190 from the unutilized approved budget for the MRDP and Forwards Market 
projects. The ERC has not yet resolved the motion as at December 31, 2020.  

Market Fee Application for CY 2014 (ERC Case No. 2013-137RC) 

On 27 October 2020, the Honorable Commission issued an Order dated 13 February 2020 
which denied the Motion for Leave to File and Admit Attached Motion for Partial 
Reconsideration filed on 10 March 2016 by PEMC which seeks reconsideration of the 
reduction of the financial penalties in the market fees for lack of due process and the 
imposition of a 6% interest per annum as carrying cost for collected but unutilized budget 
for the market development projects on the ground that the imposition is without factual 
or legal basis. The said order resolved that under the ERC Rules of Procedure, filing of a 
second motion for reconsideration is prohibited. Also, the issue on the reduction of financial 
penalty had already been rendered moot and academic given the utilization thereof to pay 
the MMS loan prayed for. As to the 6% carrying cost, the ERC took note that the Decision 
of the Court of Appeals in CA-G.R. No. SP No. 120687 dated 29 January 2015 had already 
been final which ordered the imposition of the 6% interest per annum carrying cost against 
PEMC.  
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Market Fee Application for CY 2015 (ERC Case No. 2014-092 RC) 

On July 9, 2020, PEMC received a copy of the Decision of the Energy Regulatory 
Commission on ERC Case dated 20 May 2020 approving the Application with modification 
through electronic mail. Under the Decision, PEMC is authorized to impose the Market 
Transaction Fee (MTF) for Calendar Year (CY) 2015 in the amount of Four Hundred Forty-
Seven Million Four Hundred Seventy Thousand Twenty-Six Pesos and Six Centavos 
(P447,470,026.06) on WESM participants in the Luzon and Visayas Grids. Some of the 
components of PEMC’s CY 2015 MTF were not approved and disallowed.  

In addition, PEMC was directed to:  

(a) to implement a refund of its over collection in the MTF for CY 2015, to be 
apportioned among all the Luzon and Visayas participants. The said adjustment 
shall be implemented over twelve (12) months beginning in the next billing 
month upon receipt of this Decision. 

(b) to reflect the CY 2015 MTF refund as a separate line item in the WESM monthly 
billing statement, and to correspondingly implement the adjusted MTF which 
should be net of the amount to be refunded.  

(c) to submit its Plan of Action for the implementation of the refund scheme, and 
the corresponding adjustment to the MTF, within ten (10) days upon receipt 
hereof. 

The Decision also issued guidelines to be followed by PEMC for its future MTF applications.  

On 09 July 2020, PEMC filed a Motion to Defer Submission of the Plan of Action ordered in 
the said Decision. Thereafter, PEMC filed an Omnibus Motion on 16 July 2020, seeking 
reconsideration of the finding that PEMC is a Government-Owned and Controlled 
Corporation (GOCC) as well sought the reconsideration of the disallowances and the 
guidelines issued.  

Market Fee Application for CY 2016-2017 (ERC CASE NO. 2015-160 RC) 

On 09 July 2020, PEMC received a copy of the Decision of the Honorable Commission dated 
June 22, 2020 approving the Application with modification through electronic mail. 

Under the Decision, PEMC is authorized to impose the Market Transaction Fee (MTF) for 
Calendar Year (CY) 2016 and 2017 in the amounts of Four Hundred Eighty-Six Million Two 
Hundred Forty-Eight Thousand Four Hundred Sixty-Seven Pesos and 71/100 
(PhP486,248,467.71) and Four Hundred Eighty-Six Million Four Hundred Forty-One 
Thousand Six Hundred Two Pesos and 85/100 (PhP486,441,602.85), respectively on 
WESM participants in the Luzon and Visayas Grids. Some  components of PEMC’s CY 2016 
and 2017 MTF were approved subject to modification, while some were disallowed.: 

In addition, PEMC was directed to:  

(a) to implement a refund of its over collection in the MTF for CY 2016 and CY 
2017, to be apportioned among all the Luzon and Visayas participants. The 
said adjustment shall be implemented over twelve (12) months beginning in 
the next billing month upon receipt of this Decision; 

(b) to reflect the CYs 2016 and 2017 MTF refund as a separate line item in the 
WESM monthly billing statement, and to correspondingly implement the 
adjusted MTF which should be net of the amount to be refunded;  

(c) to submit its Plan of Action for the implementation of the refund scheme, and 
the corresponding adjustment to the MTF, within ten (10) days upon receipt 
hereof. 

The Decision also issued guidelines to be followed by PEMC for its future MTF applications.  

On 20 July 2020, PEMC filed a Motion to Defer Submission of the Plan of Action ordered 
in the said Decision. Thereafter, on 24 July 2020, PEMC filed an Omnibus Motion which in 
part sought reconsideration of the finding that PEMC is a Government-Owned and 
Controlled Corporation (GOCC) as well sought the reconsideration of the disallowances 
and the guidelines issued. 
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Refund of Market Fees 

In ERC Order dated July 19, 2010 on ERC Case No. 2010-079 RC, a motion for additional 
market transaction fee (AMF) of P0.0075 per kilowatt-hour (kWh) the incremental amount 
intended to finance MMS Migration was granted with modification. ERC allowed the 
Company to collect the P331,483,000 budgeted capital expenditures that will be spread 
over a period of 5 years with an annual rate of P0.0015 per kWh.  

On February 4, 2011, the Company filed a Manifestation and Motion where it was 
manifested that it has terminated its negotiations with ABB, Inc. relative to the MMS 
Migration. Nonetheless, the Company requested for the continued collection of the 
approved budget to fund the purchase of the new MMS. The request was denied in the 
absence of a concrete basis to justify the same and considering that the acquisition of a 
new MMS has yet to be approved by the ERC.  

Relative to this, the Company was directed to refund to the market participants the market 
fees in 2011 amounting to P268.28 million inclusive of 22.24 million interests computed 
at Manila Reference Rate plus 3%. The Company filed a petition for review with the Court 
of Appeals (CA) seeking to reverse the ERC order as regards the imposition of interest 
using the Manila Reference Rate plus 3%. On February 11, 2015, the Company received 
the decision of the CA ruling that there was no basis to impose said rate and that the ERC 
can only order the return of actual interest. In the absence of evidence on the actual 
interest earned however, the CA, imposed legal interest at 6%. The Company filed a 
motion for reconsideration on February 26, 2015 which was denied by the CA in the 
Resolution dated October 14, 2015. No further appeal was taken by the Company in 2018.  

Meanwhile, in compliance with the ERC directive, the Company returned to the trading 
WESM participants the sum of P245.28 million inclusive of P13.45 million interests which 
management believes is the amount collected from the market participants. The difference 
of P22,921,966 consisting of interest and unutilized market transaction fees was 
recognized as part of “Accrued expense” included under “Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses” account in the statements of assets, liabilities and fund balance as at  
December 31, 2020 and 2019, as disclosed in Note 13. As of December 31, 2020, the 
Company is still waiting for the ERC order as to the deduction to the succeeding budget 
approval. 

15. OTHER INCOME 

 Notes 2020 2019 
Financial penalties  P89,287 P43,125,000 
Income from defined benefit plan 17 - 497,505 
Gain on sale of intangible assets 11 - 100,000 
Others  - 1,120,004 

  P89,287 P44,842,509 

Financial penalties pertain to the sanctions imposed by the PEM Board to the Market 
Participants for the breaches of the WESM Rules and/or Market Manuals pursuant to its 
authority under Section 7.2.5.2 of the WESM Rules. These financial penalties are set 
forth in the WESM Financial Penalty Manual which was promulgated by the Market 
Surveillance Committee in 2008 pursuant to Section 1.6.3 of the WESM Rules.  

Others pertain to miscellaneous income from maintenance fees collected and data 
requests performed. 

16. PERSONNEL COSTS 

Personnel costs recognized in the statement of receipts and expenses pertains to salaries 
and employee benefits amounting to P107,440,105 and P124,701,356, in 2020 and 
2019, respectively.  
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN 

The Company maintains a funded, tax-qualified, non-contributory post-employment 
benefit plan that is being administered by a trustee covering all regular full-time 
employees. Actuarial valuations are made annually to update the retirement benefit 
costs and the amount of contributions. 

The Company meets the provisions of RA 7641 which provides for the minimum 
retirement pay to qualified private sector employees in the Philippines.  

The normal retirement age of the Company’s employees is 60 with a minimum of  
30 years credited service. The plan also provides for an early retirement at age 60 with 
a minimum of five years with a minimum of 30 years credited service. Normal  
post-employment benefit is an amount equivalent to one and a half months’ 
compensation for every year of credited service. 

The plan typically exposes the Company to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, 
interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk. 

Investment risk 

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate 
determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields; if the return on plan asset 
is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plan has a relatively balanced 
investment in equity securities, debt instruments and real estates. Due to the long-term 
nature of the plan liabilities, the board of the pension fund considers it appropriate that 
a reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in equity securities and in 
real estate to leverage the return generated by the fund. 

Interest rate risk 

A decrease in the government bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, 
this will be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments. 

Longevity risk 

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the 
best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their 
employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the 
plan’s liability. 

Salary risk 

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the 
future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan 
participants will increase the plan’s liability. 

The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the dependents of plan members (widow and 
orphan benefits) is re-insured by an external insurance company. 

No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation were carried out at December 31, 2020 by an independent 
actuary. The present value of the plan asset, and the related current service cost and 
past service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit method. 

The principal assumptions used in determining retirement benefit asset are as follows: 

 2020 2019 
Discount rate 3.95% 5.22% 
Salary increase rate 4.00% 4.00% 

The mortality rates used in the valuation were based on the 2001 CSO Table – 
Generational. 
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Amounts recognized in statement of receipts and expenses with respect to this defined 
benefit plan are as follows: 

 2020 2019 
Current service cost P  5,038,596 P  4,329,745 
Settlement Gain - - 
Net interest income (4,769,203) (4,827,250) 

Components of defined benefit income 
recognized statement of in receipts and 
expenses 269,393 (497,505) 

Remeasurement on the net defined benefit 
liability: 

  

Loss (gain) on plan assets (758,619) (9,688,782) 
Loss in changes in the effect of the asset 

ceiling (18,562,371) (17,486,261) 
Actuarial (gains) and losses from:   

Experience adjustments (1,284,463) (77,623) 
Changes in demographic assumptions - (816,978) 
Changes in financial assumptions 1,709,524 1,310,002 

Components of defined benefit costs recognized 
in other comprehensive income (18,895,929) (26,759,642) 

 (P18,626,536) (P27,257,147) 

Income on defined benefit plan was recognized in other income, as disclosed in Note 15. 

The amount included in the statements of assets, liabilities, and fund balance arising 
from the Company’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit retirement plan is as 
follows: 

 2020 2019 
Fair value of plan assets P181,732,922 P171,996,106 
Present value of defined benefit obligations (11,633,675) (5,863,921) 
Effect of asset ceiling 

(60,108,660) (74,768,134) 

Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation P109,990,587 P91,364,051 

The asset ceiling is the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. 

The actual return on plan assets is as follows: 

 2020 2019 
Interest income P8,978,197 P11,365,890 
Remeasurement gain (loss) 758,619 9,688,782 

Actual return on plan assets P9,736,816 P21,054,672 
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Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations in the current period were 
as follows: 

 2020 2019 
Balance, January 1 P  5,863,921 P1,040,431 
Current service cost 5,038,596 4,329,745 
Interest cost 306,097 78,344 
Benefits paid - - 
Settlement gain - - 
Remeasurement of actuarial (gains) losses from:   

Experience adjustments (1,284,463) (77,623) 
Changes in demographic assumptions - (816,978) 
Changes in financial assumptions 1,709,524 1,310,002 

Balance, December 31 P11,633,675 P5,863,921 

Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 

 2020 2019 
Balance, January 1 P171,966,106 P150,941,434 
Interest income 8,978,197 11,365,890 
Benefits paid - - 
Gain (Loss) on plan assets (excluding amounts 

indicated in net interest expense) 758,619 9,688,782 

Balance, December 31 P181,732,922 P171,966,106 

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined obligation are 
discount rate, expected salary increase and mortality.  

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible 
changes of each significant assumption on the retirement obligation assuming all other 
assumptions were held constant: 

 

Increase 
(Decrease) in 
basis points 

Effect on Retirement Benefit 
Obligation (in ‘000) 
2020 2019 

Discount rate 100 (1,380) (P635) 
 (100) 1,682 768 
Salary increase rate 100 1,663 769 
 (100) (1392) (647) 
Attrition rate No attrition rate 8,937 3,963 

The major categories of the plan asset as a portion of the fair value of the total plan 
asset are as follows: 

  2020 2019 

Government securities  P161,451,528 P154,452,503 
Unit investment trust funds  10,976,668 10,078,972 
Mutual funds  - 326,793 
Cash and payables  9,304,726 7,137,838 
Accrual for benefits paid  - - 

  P181,732,922 P171,996,106 

Discount rates are based on PDEX – PDST R2 adjusted using the re-investment method 
in order to approximate zero-coupon rates. The Company has no contribution to the plan 
asset for the year ending December 31, 2020. Assumptions regarding future mortality 
experience are set based on the Company’s historical turn-over rate. 
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The Company has no specific asset-liability matching strategy between the plan assets 
and the plan liabilities. 

The Company does not expect to contribute to the plan in 2020. 

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2020 and 
2019 are 13.2 years and 12 years, respectively. 

The maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments is as follows (in ‘000): 

 2020 2019 
Less than one year P     205 P     158 
More than one year to five years 7,985 10,569 
More than five years to ten years 13,501 12,646 

 P21,691 P23,373 

18. OTHER EXPENSES 

 Note 2020 2019  
Conference  P1,933,664 P  5,817,412 
Insurance  1,366,756 3,172,689 
Membership and association dues  1,355,818 1,507,445 
Taxes and licenses  1,092,771 3,475,657 
Training and education  783,082 919,320 
Litigations  355,262 134,700 
Foreign exchange loss  278,357 129,665 
Advertising and promotions  215,000 30,000 
Provision for bad debts 7 154,057 24,789 
Bank charges  6,675 11,175 
Subscription  - 157,608 
Excess of standard over actual input VAT  - 978 
Miscellaneous  48,146 33,264 

  P7,589,588 P15,414,702 

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The summary of the Company’s transactions and outstanding balances with related 
parties as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 is as follows: 

Category Notes 
2020 2019 2020 2019 

Terms Condition Transaction Receivable (Payable) 

Reimbursable Expenses 8 P28,725,719 P   17,403,053 P  28,725,719 P  17,403,053 

On demand and 
non-interest 

bearing 
Unsecured and 
not impaired 

Due from Related Party    28,725,719 17,403,053   

        

Transfer of assets and 
liabilities 13, 26 4,826,053 1,365,076,881 (272,991,690) (390,069,607) 

On demand and 
non-interest 

bearing 
Unsecured and 
not impaired 

Due to Related Party    (P272,991,690) (P390,069,607)   

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel  

The remuneration of the key management personnel of the Company represents short-
term employee benefits amounting to P24,621,071 and P26,170,000 in 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 
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20. INCOME TAXES

The reconciliation between income tax expense and the product of income before tax in
2020 multiplied by 30% is as follows:

2020 2019 
Total other income P89,287 P44,842,509 
Less:     

 Income from defined benefit plan - (497,505) 

Profit before tax 89,287 44,345,004 

Tax at 30% P26,786 P13,303,501 

21. LEASES

The Company entered into various non-cancellable lease agreements with third parties for 
the lease covering offices, warehouses and parking slots. The leases have terms ranging 
from one to three years, with renewal options. Guarantee deposits paid in connection with 
these agreements amounting to P4,143,747 and P 6,233,223 as at December 31, 2020 
and 2019, respectively. Guarantee deposits shall be refunded to the Company at the end 
of the lease terms.

Total prepaid rent amounted to P123,189 and P95,175 in 2020 and 2019, respectively, 
as disclosed in Note 9.

Total rental expense charged to operations amounted to P1,549,049 and P1,850,908 in 
2020 and 2019, respectively. This pertains to the lease of equipment, storage and parking 
spaces usually under a renewable 12-month term or less.

As a result of adoption of PFRS 16, the Company recognized ROU assets and lease 
liabilities starting January 1, 2019. Details of the ROU  assets and lease liabilities are 
presented below:

ROU assets – net
Cost 
Transition adjustment P23,769,518 
Balance, December 31, 2019 and 2020 23,769,518 

Balance, December 31, 2020 23,769,518 

Accumulated Depreciation 
Transition adjustment - 
Additions 11,142,026 
Balance, December 31, 2019 11,142,026 
Depreciation 11,142,026 

Balance, December 31, 2020 22,284,051 

Carrying Value, December 31, 2020 P  1,485,467 

Carrying Value, December 31, 2019 P12,627,492 
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Lease liabilities 

2020 2019 
Balance, January 1 P13,168,656 P     - 
Transition adjustment - 23,769,518
Accretion of interest 476,591 1,015,929
Payments  (12,012,448) (11,616,791) 

Balance, December 31 1,632,799 13,168,656 

Current Portion 1,632,799 11,535,857 

Non-current portion P    - P  1,632,799

Total outstanding interest payable amounted to P46,955 and P523,545 as at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments: 

2020 2019 
Not later than 1 year P1,679,754 P12,012,448 
Later than 1 year but not later than 3 years - 1,679,754

22. CONTRACTS, COMMITMENTS AND CONTIGENCIES

The following are the significant contracts, commitments and contingencies
involving the Company:

Contracts and commitments

a. Outside services

The Company incurred professional fees paid to its consultants, lawyers and auditors
for its market and metering audit. Outside services amounted to P15,465,196 and
P12,928,045 (as restated) in 2020 and 2019, respectively.

b. Development of the new market management system

The Company awarded the contract for the software development and quality services
in the implementation of the NMMS to Siemens, Inc., as disclosed in Note 11.

Contingencies 

c. Case Against Albay Electric Cooperative, Inc. (ALECO)

The Company, insofar as its capacity to collect on behalf of the trading participants
and pursuant to the directive of the ERC to undergo the WESM dispute resolution
procedure, facilitated the filing of a dispute seeking payment by ALECO of its
outstanding obligations to the WESM for the billing months of February to June 2010.
The matter was eventually brought to arbitration. During the course of arbitration
proceedings, ALECO, PEMC, Therma Luzon Inc., Masinloc Power Partners Co., Ltd.,
Panasia Energy Holdings Inc., San Miguel Energy Corporation and Strategic Power
Development Corporation entered into a payment agreement to restructure the
indebtedness of PhP962,956,125.75 over a period of 3 years with interest of 2.70%
per annum.

This agreement was later amended to move the initial payment date for the principal
and was submitted to the arbitration panel as a compromise agreement.
On December 1, 2011, the Arbitral Tribunal issued the arbitral award based on the
terms of the agreement.

ALECO however defaulted under the terms of the agreement. A second amendment
was thereafter executed providing for a six-month moratorium on the payment of the
principal.
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In May 29, 2019, PEMC filed a Manifestation with Motion to Set Case For Hearing 
with attached Final Award from Dispute Resolution Panel.  

A hearing was held on November 14, 2019 where the Company was directed to 
submit detailed computation of P962,000,000, including the claimants of this amount 
from ALECO and the way forward of the Company as to whether it will indeed pursue 
the disconnection of the electric service of ALECO for its failure or continue to fail in 
implementing and enforcing the Agreement. Thereafter, on  
December 16, 2019, PEMC filed its Compliance with Request for Treatment of 
Confidential Information.  No update as of December 31, 2020. 

d. 1590 Energy Corporation (1950EC) versus PEMC (ERC Case No. 2015-064 MC)  

In its Investigation Report dated October 17, 2014, the Enforcement and Compliance 
Office (ECO) of the Company found that 1590EC was in breach of the Must Offer Rule 
(MOR) with respect to the transactions of Bauang Diesel Power Plant, operated by 
1590EC, in 37 intervals and recommended the imposition of payment sanction in the 
total amount of P3,70 million. In October 2015, 1590EC filed the Petition for Dispute 
Resolution with the ERC against the Company praying that the finding of the ECO of 
violation of the MOR by 1590EC with respect to 31 intervals be re-opened for review 
and reconsideration and that a cease and desist order be issued to restrain the 
Company from implementing the actual deduction/off-setting of the financial penalty 
in the amount of P3.10million.There being no cease and desist order issued by the 
ERC, the Company proceeded to collect the financial penalty in the total amount of 
P3.70 million. 

On February 29, 2016, the ERC has suspended the case pending resolution of the 
request for reconsideration filed by 1590EC with the PEM Board, without prejudice 
to its resumption should the parties desire to do so. On April 26, 2016, the PEM 
Board resolved the request for reconsideration, the fact of which was relayed to 
1590EC and the ERC. The case remains pending as at December 31, 2020 

e. Exemption from income taxation  

Management took a position that the Company, being a non-stock, non-profit 
corporation and as intended under the EPIRA, is exempt from income tax and as such, 
pending approval by the BIR of its application for a tax ruling on its exemption from 
income tax, did not recognize any income tax on the excess of its receipts over 
expenses for income arising from its principal activity. Any unfavorable outcome of 
the pending application for a tax ruling may result in a significant tax obligation.  
Management, however, believes that there is basis for a favorable ruling from the BIR.  

f. Tax claims 

The Company is a non-stock, non-profit corporation which, in the opinion of 
management, is exempt from income tax and consequently, from withholding tax, 
pursuant to Section 30(F) of the 1997 Tax Code, as amended, in relation to  
Section 31 of RR No. 2-40. Thus, the income from activities conducted in pursuit of 
the objectives for which the Company was established is exempt from income tax.  
However, any income on any of its properties, real or personal, or from any activity 
conducted for profit, regardless of the disposition of such income is subject to 
income tax. 

The Company has a pending application for a ruling from BIR confirming its exemption 
from income tax as a non-stock, non-profit entity. Pending the issuance of the BIR 
ruling, market participants continue to withhold portion of the market fees as 
withholding taxes, which is creditable against the income tax due of the Company 
should it get an unfavorable response on its request for ruling from the BIR. Since the 
Company does not have income taxes due on the aforementioned fees to which the 
withholding tax credits may be applied against, the Company has chosen the option 
of claiming cash refund from the BIR for such credits in the years 2007, 2008 and 
2009. No claims for refund were made for the years thereafter as the company elected 
for excess credits to be carried-over and applied to taxes due for the next taxable 
periods. 
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In 2011, the Company recognized provision for impairment loss amounting to  
P3.31 million for the portion of the refund pertaining to taxable years 2007 and 2008 
that has prescribed for application. No impairment loss was recognized in 2020 and 
2019. 

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, the balance of the excess credits carried-over to 
the next taxable periods amounted to P27,356,248 and P27,380,802, respectively. 

Provisions and contingencies 

The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of possible claims has been developed 
in consultation with outside counsel handling the Company’s defense in these matters and 
is based upon an analysis of potential results. The Company is a party to certain lawsuits 
or claims arising from the ordinary course of business. However, the Company’s 
management and legal counsel believe that the eventual liabilities under these lawsuits or 
claims, if any, will not have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Company’s Investigation of Allegations of Anti-Competitive Behavior of PSALM 

In October 2006, the Company’s Market Surveillance Committee (MSC) investigated 
allegations of anti-competitive behavior on the part of the PSALM, bidding on behalf of 
NPC’s independent power producers, that was brought about by a spike in the load 
weighted average rates during the August 26 to September 25, 2006 billing period  (third 
month of operations). 

Based on the findings of the MSC, the PEM Board then issued a resolution on  
November 22, 2006 affirming the MSC’s findings and ordering an adjustment in the WESM 
settlement prices to administered price in accordance with the Energy Regulatory 
Commission (ERC) approved administered price methodology.  At the instance of NPC, 
clarification was sought from the ERC on the price adjustments.  

On December 6, 2006, the ERC (i) directed the Company to submit the resolution; and, 
(ii) initiated an inquiry into the resolution and the PEM Board’s action in adjusting the 
WESM settlement prices.  

In an Order dated December 13, 2006 (ERC Case NO. 2006-080), invoking its mandate 
under the EPIRA, the ERC provisionally declared “the action of the PEM Board,  
in correcting the WESM settlement prices and imposing the administered prices to be 
invalid for having been carried out beyond the scope of its authority and in violation of the 
EPIRA and the WESM Rules” and directed the formulation of market protocols to put to 
rest the issues on delineation of functions exercised by entities within the industry and 
directed the formulation of market protocols to put to rest the issues on delineation of 
functions exercised by entities within the industry. Pursuant thereto, the PEMC and ERC 
adopted a protocol that aims to delineate the manner and procedure by which the ERC 
and PEMC shall exercise their respective authorities in instances of breach of the WESM 
Rules and Manuals, anti-competitive behavior, and dispute resolution through a 
Memorandum of Agreement dated 31 January 2008. Meanwhile, the ERC provisionally 
applied the NPC-Time of Use (TOU) rates.  

The Company’s lack of authority was affirmed in ERC’s subsequent Order dated  
August 14, 2007. Pursuant to the January 2, 2007 order of the ERC, the Company issued 
to the WESM customer revised settlement statements on January 25, 2007 covering the 
billing period falling due, with payment due date for the generators on January 26, 2007.  

On July 20, 2007, the Company filed a motion for clarification concerning the appropriate 
date by which late payment interest is to be reckoned considering the revisions made in 
the settlement statements due to the adjustments arising from the Order to use NPC-TOU 
rates.  

Subsequently, after the ERC issued its order dated February 5, 2007, confirming the 
appropriate calculation on the customer metered quantities and, consequently,  
the Company issued on April 25, 2007 the second revised settlement statements with due 
dates for the customers set on May 5, 2007 and for the payment due to generators on  
May 6, 2007.  
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In ERC Case No. 2007-421 MC (IU Case No. 06-01), the ERC conducted its own 
investigation on the allegations, and on June 6, 2007, the ERC cleared PSALM of the 
accusations and found that no prima facie evidence for anti-competitive behavior exist 
against PSALM.  

In view of its finding in ERC Case No. 2007-421, the ERC resolved on the aforementioned 
Order dated August 14, 2007, that the WESM settlement prices should be used for third 
and fourth month billing period. 

On June 17, 2008, the Company received a copy of ERC’s order ERC Case No. 2006-080 
RC docketed June 16, 2008 regarding the prices from the third billing period. 
Although the ERC denied the Company’s motion for reconsideration regarding the validity 
of the PEM Board’s decision to adjust the prices, the ERC granted the Manila Electric 
Company’s request that it intervene for the greater interest of the industry and the 
consumers, and set the WESM settlement prices at NPC-TOU rates. Following the results 
of investigations of alleged anti-competitive behavior, the ERC set the WESM settlement 
prices for the third and fourth billing periods of 2006 at the ERC-approved NPC-TOU rates. 
On June 2020, the Supreme Court in G.R. 190119, ruled that the ERC validly exercised its 
regulatory power pursuant to the police power of the State when it imposed the 
Commission-approved NPC-TOU rates as a form of price adjustment or price control. 
The adoption of the NPC-TOU rate instead of the actual market prices for the relevant 
periods has passed the test of reasonableness. 

PSALM filed a Motion for Reconsideration which was denied by the ERC in its Order dated 
October 20, 2008. PSALM then filed a Petition for Review with the CA.  
On August 28, 2009, the CA dismissed the Petition of PSALM and further denied in CA 
order dated November 6, 2009, the Motion for Reconsideration of PSALM. A petition was 
filed by PSALM to the Supreme Court docketed as G.R. No. 190199.  

On June 2020, the Supreme Court in G.R. 190119, ruled that the ERC validly exercised its 
regulatory power pursuant to the police power of the State when it imposed the 
Commission-approved NPC-TOU rates as a form of price adjustment or price control. 
The adoption of the NPC-TOU rate instead of the actual market prices for the relevant 
periods has passed the test of reasonableness. The case is still open as of  
December 31, 2020. 

Designation as Central Registration Body (CRB) and the Retail Competition and Open 
Access (RCOA)  

June 26, 2013 marked the commercial operations and integration of the RCOA into the 
WESM.  

Section 31 of the EPIRA provides that RCOA shall be implemented no later than three 
years upon the effectivity of the EPIRA, subject to fulfillment of certain pre-conditions. 
Through the ERC Resolution No. 10 Series of 2011, dated June 6, 2011 and pursuant to 
Section 31 of the EPIRA and Section 3, Rule 12 of its Implementing Rules and Regulations, 
the ERC has declared fulfillment of the pre-conditions prescribed for the initial 
implementation of the RCOA.  

Retail Competition is the provision of electricity to a contestable market by suppliers 
through Open Access, which is defined as the system of allowing any qualified person of 
the use of transmission and/or distribution systems and associated facilities, subject to 
the payment of transmission and/or distribution retail wheeling rates duly approved by 
the ERC.  

The RCOA Steering Committee (RCOA SC) which was created through the DOE Circular 
No. DC 2011-06-0006 dated June 17, 2011, recommended policies to enhance and ensure 
the readiness of the industry participants in the implementation of the RCOA and the 
deferment of its implementation from December 26, 2011 to a later date. In an order 
dated October 24, 2011 (ERC Case No. 2011-009 RM) the ERC approved and declared the 
deferment of implementation of the RCOA in Luzon and Visayas, as recommended by the 
RCOA SC, while all rules, systems, preparations and infrastructures required have not yet 
been put in place.  
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On February 24, 2012, the Company was designated by the DOE through DOE Circular 
No. DC 2012-02-0002 as the CRB assigned to undertake the development and 
management of the required systems and processes and information technology system 
that will be capable of handling customer switching and information exchange among retail 
electricity market participants, as well as the settlement of their transactions in the WESM.  
For purposes of implementing the functions of the CRB under the RCOA regime and under 
the supervision of the DOE, the Company is directed to undertake the following duties and 
responsibilities:  

• Review of WESM Rules and Manuals;  

• Develop market infrastructure, systems and processes;  

• Conduct training for the electric power industry participants;  

• Comply with DOE directives;  

• Coordinate with relevant stakeholders and other government agencies; and  

• Perform such other related functions as may be necessary in the effective and efficient 
implementation of the RCOA.  

The ERC, through Resolution No. 16.series of 2012, determined the commencement date 
of open access and retail competition to be on December 26, 2012 (the “Open Access 
Date”). On November 28, 2012, the DOE promulgated DOE Circular No. DC2012-11-0010 
prescribing a transition period of six (6) months from the Open Access Date or the period 
December 26, 2012 to June 25, 2013 to prepare all stockholders for RCOA.  The Circular 
further provided that the full RCOA Commercial Operation Date shall take effect after the 
transition period or the period commencing June 26, 2013 onwards. In ERC Resolution  
No. 10, series of 2016, the ERC set the mandatory contestability date of  
December 26, 2016 for 1MW Customers and June 26, 2017 for 750kW Customers while 
the Threshold Reduction Date covering 750kW Customers was set on June 26, 2016 and 
for 500kW Customers on June 26, 2018. On November 15, 2016, the ERC issued ERC 
Resolution No. 28, series of 2016, which amended the timeline set forth in the Revised 
Rules for Contestability in order to provide CCs more time to negotiate their respective 
RSCs. The original mandatory contestability date for end-users with an average monthly 
peak demand of at least 1MW was moved from December 26, 2016 to February 26, 2017.  

However, a series of injunctions were implemented by the courts, which halted the 
implementation of the RCOA: 

• June 13, 2016 – The Pasig Regional Trial Court Branch 157 issued a temporary 
restraining order effective for a period of 20 days from service to respondents 
DOE and ERC of this order 

• October 10, 2016 – The Supreme Court (SC) issued a temporary restraining 
order (TRO) stopping the Regional Trial Court in Pasig City from enforcing an 
injunction order against the implementation of the retail competition and open 
access (RCOA) system 

• February 21, 2017 - In the Resolution dated February 21, 2017 in G.R. No. 
228588, the Supreme Court granted therein Petitioners’ prayer for the issuance 
of a temporary restraining order and thus enjoined the implementation of 
Department of Energy Circular No. DC2015-06-0010, Series of 2015, Energy 
Regulatory Commission Resolution No. 5, Series of 2016, Energy Regulatory 
Commission Resolution No. 10, Series of 2016, Energy Regulatory Commission 
Resolution No. 11, Series of 2016 and Energy Regulatory Commission Resolution 
No. 28, Series of 2016.  

Department Circular No. DC 2019-07-0011 amends previous DOE issuances implementing 
RCOA. The new rules amend some sections of DC2012-05-0005, specifically the definition 
of contestable customers wherein they are "allowed the use of the transmission and 
distribution systems and may voluntarily register as a Trading Participants. Furthermore, 
DC2013-07-0013 was likewise revised in order to mandate the Contestable Customers’ 
electricity consumption shall be sourced through an ERC-licensed/authorized Suppliers. 
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Pricing and cost recovery mechanism (PCRM) for reserves in the WESM 

On June 8, 2007, PEMC filed an Application for the approval of the PCRM for reserve 
categories to be traded in the WESM reserve market. On July 7, 2008, the ERC approved 
the adoption of the following for the WESM reserve market:  

a. Gross pool concept for reserves;  

b. Zonal reserve pricing for Luzon, with reservation on the approval of the zonal pricing 
scheme for the Visayas region; 

c. Ex-ante price settlement;  

d. Co-optimization of energy and reserves; and  

e. Administered pricing mechanisms for reserves.  

In addition, the ERC directed compliance with several operational directives 

On February 26, 2013, the Company proposed a two-stage approach to the 
implementation of the WESM reserve market. The two-stage approach consists of the 
following:  

Stage 1 – In general, will involve the following major aspects:  

1. Operation of the Reserves Market based on the current design  

2. Joint ramping of energy and reserves  

3. Integration of the Reserve Effectiveness Factors (REF) in the settlement process  

4. Modification of the MDOM to ensure a single reserve schedule for a generating unit 
submitting offer for multiple reserve categories  

5. Accounting for contracted reserve capacities for reserve types  

6. Operation of Visayas reserve market as a single reserve zone  

7. Revision in PEN/MRR/PSM Table  

8. Registration of reserve facilities on a per generating unit basis  

9. Training of Reserve Market Trading Participants  

10. Reserve Market Dry-run  

Stage 2 – In general, will involve the following:  

1. REF incorporated in the pricing and scheduling process  

2. Realignment of specification of reserve services to include fast and slow contingency, 
introduction of new lower reserve service and ILD as a fully functioning reserve service  

3. Changes in the PGC and ASPP  

4. Implementation of automatic market power mitigation measures  

5. Changes in the PDM  

6. Incorporation of the revised design in the New MMS  

7. Inclusion of reserve provider capacity cap  

On December 2, 2013, the DOE through DC2013-12-0027 declared that the commercial 
operations of the WESM reserve market for Luzon and Visayas shall commence on  
March 26, 2014. The launch date has been deferred, however, pending regulatory approval 
of the PCRM.  

In an Order dated March 27, 2015, the ERC directed the Company to engage an 
independent third party consultant to assess the proposed two-staged approach.  
In compliance with the directive, the Company filed the report of the independent third 
party consultant with the ERC on December 1, 2015. 
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In the Order dated April 17, 2018, the ERC dismissed the Application for having become 
moot and academic.  The ERC cited the inconsistency between the proposed pricing and 
cost recovery mechanism for reserve transactions in the WESM subject of the Application 
and the new PDM Application (ERC Case No. 2017-042 RC) which consolidates all WESM 
pricing-related methodologies, including the pricing and cost recovery mechanism for 
reserves including the PCRM. It was filed pursuant to DOE Department Circular No. 
DC2017-03-0001 entitled Adopting Further Amendments to the Wholesale Electricity Spot 
Market (WESM) Rules and Market Manuals for the Implementation of Enhancements to 
WESM Design and Operations (Provisions for Price Determination Methodology and 
Constraint Violation Coefficients and Pricing Re-run).  

Expository presentations were held in 2017 while the Pre-Trial and Evidentiary hearings 
were held in 2018. 

Considering the issues raised during the pre-trial on March 5, 2018 whether the instant 
Application for the settlement of Displaced generators docketed as ERC Case No. 2016-
159RC and that the New PDM consolidates all pricing methodologies, PEMC filed a Motion 
to Withdraw on said case on March 17, 2018, which the ERC granted on April 17, 2018.  

In 2019 and 2020, PEMC presented/submitted to the ERC the results of the Software 
Certification Audit of the New Market Management System (NMMS) and Central 
Registration and Settlement System (CRSS), and the Market Readiness Assessment 
Report (MRA) as evidences supporting the Application. 

In 04 May 2017, the DOE issued Department Circular DC 2017-05-0009 entitled 
"Declaring the Launch of the Wholesale Electricity Spot Market (WESM) in Mindanao 
Providing for the Transition Guidelines". Section 10 of the said issuance provides for the 
termination of the IMEM upon its effectivity. 

MERALCO rate hike 

On December 5, 2013, MERALCO wrote a letter-request to the ERC, seeking authority to 
stagger collection of the Generation Charge (GenCharge) for the November 2013 supply 
month. In a letter dated December 9, 2013, the ERC authorized MERALCO to: a) collect 
P7.67/kWh in December 2013, b) add P1/kWh in its GenCharge for February 2014, and 
c) include the balance in the GenCharge for March 2014, without carrying costs. 

On December 20, 2013, petitions were filed before the Supreme Court (SC), assailing the 
ERC’s December 9, 2013 letter. On December 23, 2013, the SC issued a Temporary 
Restraining Order (TRO) effective immediately and for a period of sixty (60) days 
enjoining: a) the ERC from implementing its December 9, 2013 letter and acting further 
on the letter-request of MERALCO, and b) MERALCO from increasing the rates it charges 
to its customers based on the matters it raised in its December 5, 2013 letter. Oral 
arguments were conducted before the SC.  

On February 18, 2014, the SC extended its TRO for another sixty (60) days until  
April 22, 2014. The SC enjoined the Company and other generation companies “from 
demanding and collecting the deferred amounts representing costs based on the matters 
raised in MERALCO’s December 5, 2013 letter”. On April 22, 2014, the SC issued a 
Resolution extending the effectivity of the TRO indefinitely.  

MERALCO manifested before the SC, ERC and the DOE that in deference to the SC TRO, 
the January 2014 billing month (December 2013 supply period) charges shall be pegged 
at November 2013 billing month levels (October 2013 supply period). As a result, 
MERALCO filed with the ERC an Application to collect the differential generation charge for 
the December 2013 supply period (ERC Case No. 2014-013RC).  

Meanwhile, on March 3, 2014, the ERC issued an Order in ERC Case No. 2014-021 MC as 
follows:  

1. Luzon WESM prices are void. Regulated prices shall be imposed in lieu thereof;  

2. Regulated prices shall be calculated based on load-weighted average ex-post nodal 
energy prices and Metered Quantity (MQ) of the same day same trading interval that 
have not been administered covering the period December 26, 2012 -  
September 25, 2013;  
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3. Oil-based plants may apply for additional compensation following the procedure for  
computing additional compensation under the Administered Price Determination  
Methodology (APDM), to cover fuel and variable O&M costs;  

4. The Company shall within 7 days from receipt calculate regulated prices and 
implement the same in revised WESM Bills to the concerned Dus, for their immediate 
settlement, except for MERALCO whose November 2013 bill shall be maintained in 
compliance with the SC TRO;  

5. Within 90 days from receipt of the Order, the Company shall conduct an investigation 
on possible breach of the Must-Offer Rule pursuant to the ERC-PEMC Protocol.  
Result of the investigations of the ECO shall be submitted directly to the ERC with 
recommended sanctions and penalties, as the case may be.  

The Company calculated regulated prices for the November and December 2013 supply 
months in compliance with the ERC’s March 3, 2014 Order. Revised WESM Bills for Luzon 
WESM trading participants, reflecting the adjustments in their Total Trading Amounts 
(TTAs), were issued on March 18, 2014. These were originally due for payment on March 
28, 2014.  

MERALCO amended its Application for the collection of differential generation charges 
(ERC Case No. 2014-013RC) in view of the recalculation conducted by the Company 
pursuant to the ERC’s March 3, 2014 Order in ERC Case No. 2014-021 MC. In its Amended 
Application, MERALCO sought approval of an incremental generation charge of 
P0.0751/kWh for six (6) months until the unrecovered amount of P1.310 billion is 
recovered. Jurisdictional hearing on MERALCO’s Application was conducted on  
May 26, 2014. However, further proceedings were suspended by the ERC until further 
notice. 

On March 27, 2014, the ERC issued an Order directing the Company to provide the market 
participants an additional period of forty-five (45) days (until May 12, 2014) to comply 
with the settlement of their respective adjusted WESM Bills. On May 9, 2014,  
the ERC issued another Order directing the Company to provide market participants a  
“non-extendible period” of thirty (30) days within which to settle their adjusted Bills.  
As a result of this latest extension, the adjusted WESM Bills are due for payment on  
June 11, 2014. Several generators filed motions for reconsideration with the ERC.  

On June 5, 2014, the Company received a copy of the motion filed by Angeles Electric 
Cooperative (AEC) contesting the manner of computation pursuant to the March 3, 2014 
Order of the ERC. On June 6, 2014, the ERC issued an order holding in abeyance the 
implementation of the March 3, 2014 Order, as well as directing the Company to file a 
comment on AEC’s motion. Both parties have already submitted position papers as regards 
this matter.  

On October 15, 2014, the ERC issued an order, which among others, denied the various 
motions for reconsideration as regards the March 3, 2014 Order. Several generators filed 
for petitions for review on this matter with the CA, impleading the Company as a necessary 
party (San Miguel et. al. v. ERC and PEMC, TPEC v. ERC etc.). These cases were 
consolidated through various order from the CA, and parties were required to file their 
respective Memoranda in a Resolution dated October 11, 2016. The Company filed its 
Memorandum on December 7, 2016. 

On November 23, 2017, the Company received a Notice of Decision dated November 7, 
2017, granting the petitions, and thus declaring null and void and set aside the assailed 
ERC Orders. Accordingly, the prices for November and December 2013 supply months 
in the WESM for Luzon are reinstated and declared valid. Motions for intervention and 
reconsideration were filed by various parties. 

On 08 May 2019, the Company received a copy of the Court of Appeal’s Omnibus 
Resolution dated 29 March 2019 denying, among other things, the Motions filed by 
intervenors and the Motions for Reconsideration dated 08 December 2017 and 12 
December 2017 filed by intervenor Manila Electric Company and public Respondent 
Energy Regulatory Commission respectively. In the same Resolution, the CA ruled that 
the assailed Decision dated 07 November 2017 and Resolution dated 22 March 2018 
shall both stand.  The case is still open as of December 31, 2020. 
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PEMC received a copy of  the Energy Regulatory Commission (ERC) Petition for Review 
with the Supreme Court where it sought to reverse and set aside both the Decision 
dated 07 November 2017 and Omnibus Resolution dated 29 March 2019 of the Court of 
Appeals and to reinstate the ERC Order dated 03 March 2014, ERC Order dated 27 March 
2014, ERC Order dated 09 May 2014 and ERC Order dated 15 October 2014 in ERC Case 
No. 2014-021 MC.  

Imposition of penalties pursuant to breaches of the must-offer rule  

Pursuant to the March 3, 2014 Order of the ERC and the WESM Rules, the Company's 
Enforcement and Compliance Officer (ECO) commenced investigations against participants 
for breaches of the Must-Offer Rule. On December 1, 2014, the PEM Board approved the 
imposition of financial penalties, after undergoing a review process. Accordingly, in 
February 2015, notice of the approval of financial penalties were sent to Therma Mobile, 
Inc. (TMO), PSALM and Pan Asia Energy Inc. TMO however, obtained a protective order 
from the Regional Trial Court (RTC) of Pasig enjoining the collection of the penalties. 

After hearing, the RTC issued an Order dated April 1, 2015 granting in favor of TMO a writ 
of preliminary injunction preventing the Company from (a) demanding the financial 
penalties (b) charging interest on the financial penalties and (c) transmitting ECO's 
investigation report to ERC.  

On April 27, 2015, the Company filed a petition with the CA with prayer for Temporary 
Restraining Order and/or Writ of Preliminary Injunction seeking to set aside the decision 
of the RTC. In a Decision dated December 14, 2015, the CA upheld the ruling of the RTC. 
The Company filed a motion for reconsideration, however the same was denied.  

On June 6, 2016, the Company elevated the matter to the Supreme Court. The case 
remains pending as at December 31, 2020.  

Line rental segregation case  

On December 11, 2014, the Company received a Decision dated December 1, 2014, issued 
by the CA, dismissing the Petition for Certiorari which assailed the ERC Orders dated  
March 4, 2013, and July 1, 2013. The assailed Orders issued by the ERC resolved as 
follows:  

1. The approval of the methodology proposed by MERALCO and the Company in 
computing the double charge amount on line losses by deducting 2.98% from the 
NPCTOU covering the period November 2006 to August 2012;  

2. The computed double charge amount to be recovered by MERALCO from NPC is 
P5,176,147,099 covering the period November 2006 to August 2012 and such other 
additional payments received by latter from former for the period subsequent to  
August 2012 until actual cessation of the collection of the 2.98% line loss charge in 
the NPC-TOU rates; and MERALCO to submit the amount of over-recoveries for the 
said period; 

3. NPC to refund to MERALCO the over-recoveries by remitting to the latter per month 
the mount of P73,944,959, until the same has been fully refunded;  

4. MERALCO to refund to its customers the amount it received from NPC until such time 
that the aforesaid over recoveries are fully refunded by way of automatic deduction 
of the amount of refund to the computed monthly generation rate;  

5. NPC, if applicable, to provide a discount to MERALCO equivalent to 2.98% line loss 
embedded in the NPC-TOU rates prospectively;  

6. MERALCO to settle the line loss cost of the LRTA with PEMC prospectively;  

7. The Company to conduct an information dissemination pertaining to the WESM Manual 
on the Segregation of Line Trading Amount to all WESM registered participants; and  

8. MERALCO to file a petition against the following SGCs: MPPCL, APRI, TLI, SMEC and 
SCPC to recover the line loss collected by them; otherwise, the former shall be liable 
to refund the said amount to its customers.  
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On February 2, 2015, the Company received PSALM’s Motion for Reconsideration, assailing 
the decision dated December 1, 2014, however the same was denied. PSALM thereafter 
filed a petition with the Supreme Court. The case remains pending as at  
December 31, 2020. 

23. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial instruments not measured at fair value  

The fair values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at December 31 are 
shown below: 

 2020 2019 

 Carrying Amount 
Fair 

Value Carrying Amount 
Fair 

Value 

Financial Assets     
Cash and cash  

equivalents P629,997,331 P629,997,331 P714,173,283 P714,173,283 
Market fees and other 

receivables 33,551,485 33,551,485 39,583,901 39,583,901 
Guarantee deposits 43,937,195 43,937,195 6,233,223 6,233,223 

 P707,486,011 P707,486,011 P759,990,407 P759,990,407 

Financial Liabilities     
Accrued expenses and 

other payables P342,886,060 P342,886,060 P441,350,498 P441,350,498 

Accrued expenses and other payables are net of government payables such as 
withholding taxes, output VAT, and accrued interest and surcharges which are not 
considered financial liabilities. 

Due to the short-term maturities of cash and cash equivalents, market fees and other 
receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, their carrying amounts of these 
financial instruments approximate their fair values. 

Loans payable is measured using the discounted cash flow method with credit adjusted 
zero coupon rates as discount rate.  

24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk  
(which includes foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.  

The Company’s risk management is coordinated in close cooperation with the Philippine 
Electricity Market (PEM) Board and focuses on actively securing the Company’s short to 
medium-term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets. The Company’s 
overall risk management seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the Company. The policies for managing specific risks are summarized 
below 

Market risk 

Market risk happens when the changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices will affect the Company’s revenue or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. The Company focuses on two market risk areas - interest 
rate risk and foreign currency risk. The objective and management of these risks are 
discussed below: 
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Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk arises when an investment’s value change is due to changes in 
currency exchange rate. The Company undertakes certain transactions denominated in 
foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise with respect to 
transactions denominated in US Dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from future 
commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities that are denominated in a 
currency that is not the Company’s functional currency.  

The Company has no established policy in managing foreign exchange rate risk.  
Any favorable or unfavorable movements of foreign currency exchange rates are 
absorbed by the Company. 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets 
at the end of each reporting period are as follows: 

 2020 2019 

Cash P5,134,329 P3,421,152 

Any future fluctuation in US dollars exchange rate will not have a significant impact on 
the results of the Company, and accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented.  

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest. The Company has no 
established policy in managing interest rate risk. The primary source of the Company’s 
interest relates to cash in banks and cash equivalents only which earn interest at 
prevailing bank deposit. Due to this, the Management believes that fluctuations on the 
interest rates will not have significant effect on the Company’s financial performance. 

Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss because the trading participants 
failed to discharge their contractual obligation. The Company’s financial assets which are 
exposed to credit risk include its cash and cash equivalents and market fees and other 
receivables with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these assets.  

The Company trades only with recognized, credit worthy third parties. It is the Company’s 
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification 
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the 
result that the Company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.  

The Company seldom encounters default of counterparties but should it happen,  
it continuously monitors defaults of such counterparties, identified either individually or 
by group, and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls.  

The Company considers the reputation and financial standing of every bank it does 
business with as part of its policy. To ensure the effective operation of the spot market by 
providing a level of comfort that WESM members will meet their obligations to make 
payments as required under the WESM Rules, each WESM member must satisfy the 
prudential requirements. 

A trading participant wishing to participate in the market transactions shall provide and 
maintain a security acceptable to the Company which is either:  

i.  A bank guarantee in a form and from a bank;  

ii. Another immediate, irrevocable and unconditional commitment in a form and from a 
bank or other institution;  

iii. Surety bond issued by a surety or insurance company duly accredited by the Office of 
the Insurance Commission (c) of the Philippines; or,  

iv. Such other forms of security or guarantee acceptable to the Company. 
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In respect of market fees and other receivables, the Company is not exposed to any 
significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics. Market fees and other receivables are neither past due nor 
impaired. Management believes that there is no change in the credit quality of financial 
assets from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of each reporting period. 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets recorded in the statements of financial 
position represent the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk: 

 2020 2019 
Cash P629,997,331 P714,173,285 
Market fees and other receivables 33,551,485 39,583,901 
Advances to IEMOP 28,725,719 17,403,053 
Guaranty deposits 43,937,195 6,233,223 

 P736,211,730 P777,393,462 

The Company’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following 
categories: 

Category Description 

Basis for 
recognizing 

expected credit 
losses 

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and 
does not have any past-due amounts 12m ECL 

Doubtful 
Amount is >30 days past due or there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition 

Lifetime ECL - not 
credit-impaired 

In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is 
evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired  

Lifetime ECL - 
credit-impaired 

Write-off 
There is evidence indicating that the debtor is 
in severe financial difficulty and the Group has 

no realistic prospect of recovery 

Amount is written-
off 

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Company’s financial assets and other 
items, as well as the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating 
grades: 

2020 Note 
External credit 

rating 
Internal credit 

rating 
12m or 

lifetime ECL? 
Gross carrying 

amount (i) Loss allowance 
Net carrying 

amount 
Market fees 

receivable 7 n/a Performing Lifetime ECL P  25,311,458 P       - P  25,311,458 
Other receivables 7 n/a Performing 12m ECL 8,418,873 178,846 8,240,027 
Advances to IEMOP 8 n/a Performing 12m ECL 28,725,719 - 28,725,719 
Guaranty deposits 9 n/a Performing 12m ECL 43,937,195 - 43,937,195 

     P106,393,245 P178,846 P106,214,399 

2019        
Market fees 

receivable 7 n/a Performing 12m ECL P25,311,458 P     - P25,311,458 
other receivables 7 n/a Performing 12m ECL 14,297,232 24,789 14,272,443 
Advances to IEMOP 8 n/a Performing 12m ECL 17,403,053 - 17,403,053 
Guaranty deposits 9 n/a Performing 12m ECL 6,233,223 - 6,233,223 

     P63,244,966 P24,789 P63,220,177 
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Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises when the Company encounters difficulty in meeting the obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
asset. The Company’s objective of  managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, 
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Company’s reputation. 

Considering the nature of its operations, the Company manages its liquidity needs by 
carefully monitoring its trade payables and other liabilities servicing payments, as well as 
cash outflows due in the day-to-day operations of the WESM. Liquidity needs are 
monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-week basis, as well as on 
the basis of a rolling 30-day projection.  

Except for lease liabilities as disclosed in Note 21, all the Company’s financial assets and 
liabilities are short term in nature and due within 12 months at the end of the reporting 
period. 

Operational risk 

The Company’s exposure to significant operational risk exposure is related to its primary 
purpose as the governing body of the WESM. Also, the Company is under the regulation 
of the ERC.  Management is aware that the Company will always have operational risk, 
but seeks to minimize the probability and impact of such in its operations and financial 
statements. 

The Company manages this risk through applicable controls, processes and procedures, 
including effective Company structure and good corporate governance. Internal controls 
ensure compliance with laws and regulations, including the WESM Rules and ERC 
directives, and the overall protection of the Company’s resources. 

25. FUND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

The Company aims to manage operational and strategic objectives. The PEM Board has 
overall responsibility for monitoring of fund balance in proportion to risks. The primary 
objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that the Company has 
available funds in order to support its operating activities and pay existing obligations.  

The Company manages its fund structure and makes adjustments to it, in the light of 
changes in economic conditions, approvals of the ERC and the risk characteristics of the 
underlying assets. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes in  
2020 and 2019.  

26. OTHER MATTERS 

Transfer of Assets and Liabilities to IEMOP 

Pursuant to the Operating Agreement dated September 19, 2018 between the Company 
and IEMOP, all existing assets pertaining to the performance of market operations 
functions, including the associated liabilities will be transferred by the Company to 
IEMOP. 

Below are the assets and liabilities which were transferred to IEMOP in 2020 and 2019. 

 2020 2019 
Assets   
Cash P          - P   506,969,900 
Guarantee deposits - 8,233,286 
Prepaid Rent 4,826,053 - 
Property and equipment – net - 128,361,451 
Intangible assets – net - 721,512,244 

 P4,826,053 P1,365,076,881 
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Cash includes funds allocated to IEMOP amounting to P390,069,607, in which 
P272,991,690 is still under the custody of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 
it is recorded as part of trade payable as disclosed in Note 13.  

27. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE BUREAU OF INTERNAL 
REVENUE (BIR) UNDER REVENUE REGULATIONS NOS. 15-2010 

The following supplementary information is presented for purposes of filing with the BIR 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

Output VAT 

In 2020, the Company declared output VAT as follows: 

 Tax Base Output VAT 
Market fees P227,240,000  P27,268,800  
Other revenues  178,572   21,429  

 P227,418,571  P27,290,229  

The Company has no VAT exempt receipts for 2020. 

The tax bases for market fees and other revenues are based on the Company’s gross 
receipts for the year, hence, may not be the same with the amounts presented in the 
2020 statement of revenue and expenses. The VAT amounting to P439,819 related to 
accruals is recognized as deferred Output VAT. 

The output VAT in 2020 is as follows: 

Output VAT  P27,290,229 
Payments:   

Cash  - 
Input VAT applied  27,290,229 
Creditable tax certificates applied  - 

  P             - 

Input VAT 

The movements of input VAT claimed in 2020 is summarized below. 

Balance, beginning  P10,556,740 
Services lodged under other accounts  6,560,429 
Input tax on sale to government  - 
Capital goods subject to amortization  9,927,299 
Goods other than for resale or manufacture  528,605 
Capital goods not subject to amortization  140,366 
Applied against output VAT  (27,290,229) 

Balance, end  P    423,211 

Taxes and licenses 

Taxes and licenses are broken down as follows for the year ended December 31, 2020: 

Fringe benefit tax P  732,305 
Licenses and business tax 315,582 
Community tax 510 
Others 44,375 

 P1,092,772 

Taxes and licenses are presented as part of “Others” in 2020 statement of receipts and 
expenses. 
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Withholding taxes 

Details of the Company’s withholding tax paid or accrued in 2020 are as follows: 

Withholding taxes on compensation and benefits P20,527,247 
Expanded withholding taxes 4,561,927 
Final - 

 P25,089,174 

Deficiency tax assessment and tax cases  

As at December 31, 2020, the Company has no deficiency tax assessments and cases 
outstanding. 

28. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 

In 2019, the cost of Outside Services amounting to P1,486,139 was capitalized and under 
the intangible assets account. The amount does not relate to the development of any of 
the company’s assets hence, it does not qualify as a cost of a capitalizable asset and should 
have been recorded as an expense. This was corrected in the year 2020 by restating the 
December 31, 2019 balance of the account as shown in Note 11. 

No third balance sheet is presented as the adjustment does not impact the opening 
balance sheet as at 1 January 2019. 

29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

On March 26, 2021, the President signed into law the Republic Act (RA) 11534 also 
known as “Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises Act” or “CREATE” Act 
which reduced the corporate income tax rates and rationalized the current fiscal 
incentives by making it time-bound, targeted and performance-based. CREATE Act 
introduces reforms in the areas of corporate income tax, value-added tax, and tax 
incentives, aside from providing COVID-19 related reliefs to taxpayers. 

The salient provisions of the CREATE Act applicable to the Company are as follows: 

1. Effective July 1, 2020, domestic corporations with total assets not exceeding 
P100 million and net taxable income of P5 million and below shall be subject to 
20% income tax rate while the other domestic corporations and resident foreign 
corporations will be subject to 25% tax income tax rate; 

2. Minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) rate is reduced to from 2% to 1% from 
July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2023; 

The significant estimated effects of the changes computed without regard to the specific 
date when specific sales, purchases and other transactions occur as provided for under 
Section 27(A) of the CREATE Act are as follows: 

 
As of  

December 31,2020 
Under the 

CREATE Act Impact 
Income tax expense P26,786 P24,554 P2,232 

On April 8, 2021, the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) has issued an Implementing 
Rules and Regulation (IRR) relevant to the CREATE Act. 

30. RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 

Certain amounts in the comparative financial statements and note disclosures have been 
reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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31. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements of the Company were approved and authorized for issuance by 
the Board of Directors on May 28, 2021. 

*           *          * 
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